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Services63PartA IVItem 15.Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules642Table of ContentsPART 1 ITEMA 1 4€“ BUSINESSAs used in this annual report on Form 10-K, references to the
a€ceCompany,a€ a€ceA. O. Smith,a€ 4€eAOS,a€ a€oewe,4€ a€oeus,a€ and a€oeourd€ refer to A. O. Smith and its consolidated subsidiaries. The following discussion should be read in
conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and notes thereto under a€celtem 8 Financial Statements and Supplementary Dataa€ in this annual report on Form 10-K. Our company is
comprised of two reporting segments: North America and Rest of World. Both segments manufacture and market comprehensive lines of residential and commercial gas and electric water
heaters, boilers, heat pumps, tanks and water treatment products. Both segments primarily manufacture and market in their respective regions of the world. Our Rest of World segment is
primarily comprised of China, Europe and India.NORTH AMERICA Sales in our North America segment accounted for approximately 77 percent of our total sales in 2024. This segment serves
residential and commercial end markets with a broad range of products including: Water heaters. Our residential and commercial water heaters primarily come in sizes ranging from 40 to 80
gallon models, however, we also offer sizes as low as 2.5 gallon (point-of-use) and as high as 2,500 gallon products with varying efficiency ranges. We offer electric, natural gas and liquid
propane tank-type models as well as tankless (gas and electric), heat pump and solar tank units. Typical applications for our water heaters include residences, restaurants, hotels, office
buildings, laundries, car washes, schools and small businesses. Boilers. Our residential and commercial boilers range in size from 45,000 British Thermal Units (BTUs) to 6.0A million BTUs.
Boilers are closed loop water heating systems used primarily for space heating or hydronic heating. Our boilers are primarily used in applications in commercial settings for hospitals, schools,
hotels and other large commercial buildings while residential boilers are used in homes, apartments and condominiums.Water treatment products. With the acquisition of Aquasana, Inc.
(Aquasana) in 2016 we entered the water treatment market. We expanded our product offerings and geographic footprint with the acquisitions of Hague Quality Water International (Hague) in
2017, Water-Right, Inc. (Water-Right) in 2019, Master Water Conditioning Corporation (Master Water) in 2021, Atlantic Filter Corporation (Atlantic Filter) in 2022, Water Tec of Tucson, Inc
(Water Tec) in 2023 and Impact Water Products (Impact) in 2024. Our water treatment products range from point-of-entry water softeners, solutions for problem well water, whole-home water
filtration products and point-of-use carbon and reverse osmosis products. We also offer a comprehensive line of commercial water treatment and filtration products. Typical applications for our
water treatment products include residences, restaurants, schools and offices. Other. In our North America segment, we also manufacture expansion tanks, commercial solar water heating
systems, swimming pool and spa heaters, related products and parts.A significant portion of our North America sales is derived from the replacement of existing products. We believe we are the
largest manufacturer and marketer of water heaters in North America with a leading share in both the residential and commercial portions of the market. We expanded our presence in North
America with our acquisition of Giant Factories, Inc. (Giant), a Canada-based manufacturer of residential and commercial water heaters, which we acquired in late 2021. In the commercial
segments of the market for both water heating and space heating, we believe our comprehensive product lines and our high-efficiency products give us a competitive advantage. Our wholesale
distribution channel, where we sell our products primarily under the A. O. Smith and State brands, includes approximately 900 independent wholesale plumbing distributors serving residential
and commercial end markets. We also sell our residential water heaters through the retail and maintenance, repair and operations (MRO) channels. In the retail channel, our customers include
four of the six largest national hardware and home center chains, including a long-standing exclusive relationship with Lowea€™s where we sell A. O. Smith branded products. Our Lochinvar
brand is one of the leading residential and commercial boiler brands in North America. Approximately 45 percentA of Lochinvar branded sales consist of residential and commercial water
heaters while the remaining 55 percent of Lochinvar branded sales consist primarily of boilers and related parts. Our commercial boiler distribution channel is primarily comprised of
manufacturer representative firms with the remainder of our Lochinvar branded products being distributed through wholesale channels. In our water treatment business we sell through a
variety of channels. We sell our A. O. Smith branded water treatment products primarily through our water quality, dealer network and Amazon. Our Aquasana branded products are primarily
sold directly to consumers through e-commerce channels. Our water softener products and problem well water solutions, which 3Table of Contentsinclude the Hague, Water-Right, Master
Water, Atlantic Filter, Impact, and Water Tec brands, are sold through water quality dealers and contractors. Our water softener products are also sold through home center retail chains.Our
energy-efficient product offerings continue to be a sales driver for our business. Our condensing commercial water heaters and boilers continue to be an option for commercial customers
looking for high-efficiency water and space heating with a short payback period through energy savings. We offer residential heat pumps, condensing tank-type and tankless water heaters in
North America, as well as other higher efficiency water heating solutions to round out our energy-efficient product offerings. We recently launched our newly designed ADAPT condensing gas
tankless water heater and VERITUS air source commercial heat pump water heater to align with greenhouse gas emission reduction trends across the U.S.We sell our products in highly
competitive markets. We compete in each of our targeted market segments based on product design, reliability, quality of products and services, advanced technologies, energy efficiency,
maintenance costs and price. Our principal water heating and boiler competitors in North America include Rheem, Bradford White, Rinnai, Aerco and Navien. Numerous other manufacturing
companies also compete. Our principal water treatment competitors in the U.S. are Culligan, Kinetico, Pentair, Franklin Electric and Ecowater as well as numerous regional assemblers. REST
OF WORLD Sales in our Rest of World segment accounted for approximately 23 percent of our total sales in 2024, a majority of which were in China. We have operated in China for nearly 30
years. In that time, we have established A. O. Smith brand recognition in the residential and commercial markets. We manufacture and market residential water heater and water treatment
products, primarily incorporating reverse osmosis technology, and commercial dispensing water treatment products. The Chinese water heater market is predominantly comprised of electric
wall-hung, gas tankless, combi-boiler, heat pump and solar water heaters. We believe we are one of the market leaders of water heaters and reverse osmosis water treatment products to the
residential market in China in dollar terms. We also design and market kitchen products (range hoods, cooktops, steam ovens, and dishwashers) and connected product technology in China. We
sell our products in approximately 9,400 points of sale in China, of which approximately 4,400 are retail outlets in tier one through tier three cities and approximately 1,600 exclusively sell our
products. We also sell our products through e-commerce channels. Our primary competitors in China in the water heater market segment are Haier/Casarte, Midea/COLMO, and Rinnai. Our
principal competitors in the water treatment market are Angel, Haier/Casarte, Midea/COLMO, Truliva, and Xiaomi.In 2008, we established a sales office in India and began importing products
specifically designed for India. We began manufacturing water heaters in India in 2010 and water treatment products in 2015. In 2024, we expanded our product offerings and geographic
footprint with the acquisition of Pureit, a Unilever PLC business. Pureit offers a broad range of residential water purification solutions in India and other South Asian markets. We continue to
increase our product offerings and sales in this country, primarily through wholesale, e-commerce and retail channels. Our primary competitors in India are Racold, Bajaj and Havells in the
water heater market and Eureka Forbes and Kent in the water treatment market.We also sell water heaters in the European, Middle East, and Far East markets and water treatment products in
Vietnam, all of which combined comprised less than 14 percent of total Rest of World sales in 2024.RAW MATERIALS Raw materials for our manufacturing operations, primarily consisting of
steel, are generally available in adequate quantities. A portion of our customers are contractually obligated to accept price changes based on fluctuations in steel prices. There has been
volatility in steel costs over the last several years. In addition tariffs could potentially increase volatility in steel and other input materials. RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT To improve our
competitiveness by generating new products and processes, we conduct research and development at our Corporate Technology Center in Milwaukee, Wisconsin, our Global Engineering Center
in Nanjing, China, and our operating locations. Our total expenditures for research and development in 2024, 2023 and 2022 were $101.7 million, $97.5 million and $89.0 million,

respectively. PATENTS AND TRADEMARKS We invest, own and use in our businesses various trademarks, trade names, patents, trade secrets and licenses. We monitor our intellectual property
for infringements. Although we believe our trademarks, trade names, patents, trade secrets, and licenses to constitute a valuable asset in the aggregate, we do not regard our business as being
materially dependent on any 4Table of Contentssingle trademark, trade name, patent, trade secret, license or any group of related such rights. Our trade name is important with respect to our
products, particularly in China, India, and North America. HUMAN CAPITAL We employed approximately 12,700 employees as of December 31, 2024 with approximately 7,200 in North
America and 5,500 in Rest of World. A small portion of our workforce in the U.S. is represented by a labor union, while outside the U.S., we have employees in certain countries that are
represented by employee representative organizations, such as an employee association, union, or works council.Our Guiding Principles and Values. The foundation of how we conduct business
and interact with our employees is outlined in A. O. Smith Corporationa€™s Guiding Principles and our Statement of Values. These principles and values help to shape how we hire, train and
treat our employees, emphasizing teamwork and promoting diversity in seeking our objectives. We believe that our Guiding Principles and Values shape the critical elements of our effort to
attract, retain and develop talent. In 2024, we were named by Ethisphere on the list of the Worlda€ ™s Most Ethical Companies. The annual list recognizes global companies dedicated to
integrity, sustainability, governance, and community with a commitment to ethical behavior, accountability, and driving positive change.Culture and Employee Engagement. We conduct a
Global Employee Engagement Survey on a biannual basis. This third party managed survey measures employeesa€™ level of engagement against external norms and provides us with actionable
feedback that drives improvement priorities. Participation in our most recent survey in 2024 was 93 percent, which we believe reflects our employeesa€™ desire to share their perspectives and
a commitment to continuous improvement. Survey results help shape action plans to further improve our culture and we will conduct the survey again in 2026.Diversity and Inclusion. As
reflected in our Guiding Principles, we strive to create a workplace where people from all backgrounds can thrive and achieve their fullest potential. Our commitment to this objective starts at
the top with our Board of Directors, which is 40 percent diverse from either a gender or ethnic/racial perspective.Compensation and Benefits. We provide what we believe is a robust total
compensation program designed to be market-competitive and internally equitable to attract, retain, motivate and reward a high-performance workforce. Regular internal and external analysis
is performed to ensure this market alignment. In addition to salaries, these programs, which vary by country, can include annual performance-based bonuses, stock-based compensation awards,
retirement plans with employee matching opportunities, health benefits, health savings and flexible spending accounts, paid time off, family leave, and tuition assistance, among others.Training
and Development. We provide all employees with a wide range of professional development experiences, both formal and informal, to help them achieve their full potential. All of our salaried
employees are given formal development plans. Some of the formal development programs that employees have access to include early-career leadership development programs, front-line
leadership development programs, continuous improvement skill-building programs, core process technology councils and tuition reimbursement for degree programs or trade schools. To
maintain our focus on career development all our salaried employees worldwide are required to have career conversations with their manager. Globally, all office and professional employees
also have formal performance reviews and development plans with a focus on learning by doing. We expect our managers to work closely with their employees to ensure performance feedback
and to conduct development discussions on a regular basis.Safety. The safety of our people is always at the forefront of what we do. We provide safety training in our production facilities,
designed to empower our employees with the knowledge and tools they need to make safe choices and mitigate risks. In addition to traditional training, we use standardized signage and visual
management throughout our facilities. Since 1954, we have annually awarded the Lloyd B. Smith President's Safety Award, which acknowledges an A. O. Smith facility that demonstrates the
most improvement over one year in the area of workplace safety. BACKLOG Due to the short-cycle nature of our businesses, our operations do not normally sustain significant backlogs. 5Table
of ContentsGOVERNMENT REGULATIONS AND ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS Our operations, including the manufacture, packaging, labeling, storage, distribution, advertising and sale of our
products, are subject to various federal, state, local and foreign laws and regulations. In the U.S., many of our products are regulated by the Department of Energy, the Consumer Product
Safety Commission, and the Federal Trade Commission. State and local governments, through laws, regulations, and building codes, also regulate our water heating and water treatment
products. Whether at the federal, state, or local level, these laws are intended to improve energy efficiency and product safety, and protect public health and the environment. In recent years, a
number of states and local authorities have proposed or implemented bans on gas-fired products in new construction in an effort to address greenhouse gas emissions. Similar laws and
regulations have been adopted by government authorities in other countries in which we manufacture, distribute, and sell our products. We offer a complete line of water and hydronic heating
products, including electric-powered water heaters and boilers, and we believe that any reduction in fossil fuel-powered products would be counterbalanced by a corresponding increase in
demand for our non-fossil fuel powered products. We are confident that our continued emphasis on product design and innovation, including energy efficiency, will keep us well positioned to
deliver products demanded by customers, regardless of fuel source.In addition, our operations are subject to federal, state and local environmental laws. We are subject to regulations of the
U.S. Environmental Protection Agency and the Occupational Health and Safety Administration and their counterpart state agencies. Compliance with government regulations and environmental
laws has not had and is not expected to have a material effect upon the capital expenditures, earnings, or competitive position of our company. See Item 3.AVAILABLE INFORMATION We
maintain a website with the address www.aosmith.com. The information contained on our website is not included as a part of, or incorporated by reference into, this Annual Report on Form 10-
K. We make available free of charge through our website our Annual Report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and amendments to these reports as
soon as reasonably practical after we have electronically filed such material with, or furnished such material to, the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC). All reports we file with the SEC
are also available free of charge via EDGAR through the SECa€™ s website at www.sec.gov.We are committed to sound corporate governance and have documented our corporate governance
practices by adopting the A. O. Smith Corporate Governance Guidelines. The Corporate Governance Guidelines, Criteria for Selection of Directors, Financial Code of Ethics, the A. O. Smith
Guiding Principles, as well as the charters for the Audit, Personnel and Compensation, Nominating and Governance and the Investment Policy Committees of the Board of Directors and other
corporate governance materials, may be viewed on the Companya€™s website. Any waiver of or amendments to the Financial Code of Conduct or the A. O. Smith Guiding Principles would be
posted on this website; to date there have been none. Copies of these documents will be sent to stockholders free of charge upon written request of the corporate secretary at the address shown
on the cover page of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. We are also committed to growing our business in a sustainable and socially responsible manner consistent with our Guiding Principles.
This commitment has driven us to design, engineer and manufacture highly innovative and efficient products in an environmentally responsible manner that helps reduce energy consumption,
conserve water and improve drinking water quality and public health. Consistent with this commitment, we issued our sustainability report biennially detailing our company&a€™s historical and
current efforts. We issued our fourth report, the 2024 sustainability report, in November 2024, documenting our environmental, social, and governance (ESG) activities over the past two years.
This report details the positive impact of our highly efficient products, highlights our companya€™s commitment to employees and the communities in which we operate, reports on our



progress toward our greenhouse gas emissions intensity reduction goal of 10 percent by 2025 (2019 baseline) and announced a new water goal to achieve an annual water savings of 40 million
gallons by 2030 (2023 baseline). We have made significant progress toward our emission reduction goal and prevented over 560,000 metric tons of carbon emissions in 2023 through the sale of
our high efficiency water heaters and boilers. Our ESG Scorecard (scorecard) reflecting our progress is available on our website. Our scorecard also provides information on our employee
diversity, product stewardship, and recordable incident rate, among other items. Our Sustainability Report and scorecard are available on our website and not included as part of, or
incorporated by reference into, this Annual Report on Form 10-K. 6Table of ContentsITEMA 1A 4€“ RISK FACTORSIn the ordinary course of our business, we face various strategic, operating,
compliance and financial risks. These risks could have an impact on our business, financial condition, operating results and cash flows. The risks set forth below are not an exhaustive list of
potential risks but reflect those that we believe to be material. You should carefully consider the risk factors set forth below and all other information contained in this Annual Report on Form
10-K, including the documents incorporated by reference, before making an investment decision regarding our common stock. If any of the events contemplated by the following risks were to
actually occur, then our business, financial condition, or results of operations could be materially adversely affected. As a result, the trading price of our common stock could decline, and you
may lose all or part of your investment. Economic and Industry Risksa- The effects of global and regional economic conditions could have a material adverse effect on our businessA decline in
economic activity, such as a recession or economic downturn, in the U.S., China, and other regions in the world in which we do business, could further adversely affect consumer confidence and
spending patterns which could result in decreased demand for the products we sell, a delay in purchases, increased price competition, or slower adoption of energy-efficient water heaters and
boilers, or high-quality water treatment products, which could negatively impact our profitability and cash flows. Such deterioration in economic conditions could arise from many factors or
fears including public health crises, further deterioration in the property market, political instability or risk of government default. In addition, an increase in price levels generally or in
particular industries, could result in a consumer shift away from the products we offer, including trading down to lower priced models, which could adversely affect our revenues and, at the
same time, increase our costs. A deterioration in economic conditions also could negatively impact our vendors and customers, which could result in an increase in bad debt expense, customer
and vendor bankruptcies, interruption or delay in supply of materials, or increased material prices, which could negatively impact our ability to distribute, market and sell our products and our
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.a- Import tariffs, taxes, customs duties and other trading regulations imposed by the U.S. government and retaliatory responses from
other countries, could significantly increase the prices we pay for raw materials that are critical to our ability to manufacture our products Import tariffs, taxes, customs duties and other trading
regulations imposed by the U.S. government on foreign countries, or by foreign countries on the U.S., could significantly increase the prices we pay for raw materials that are critical to our
ability to manufacture our products. And, we may be unable to find a domestic supplier to provide the necessary raw materials on an economical basis in the amounts we require. Also, the
current U.S. administration has expressed a desire to impose substantial new or increased tariffs. Any widespread imposition of new or increased tariffs could increase the cost of and reduce
the demand for our products and any cost increases will either require us to increase prices, foreclose our sales into impacted markets or negatively impact our profit margins. Any new or
increased tariffs could also trigger retaliatory responses from other countries which may decrease the competitiveness of our products in foreign markets. New or increased tariffs could also
negatively affect U.S. national or regional economies, which could negatively affect the demand for our products. Unfavorable changes to import tariffs, taxes, customs duties and other trading
regulations could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. a4- The occurrence or threat of extraordinary events, including natural disasters,
political disruptions, terrorist attacks, public health issues, and acts of war, could significantly disrupt production, or impact consumer spendingAs a global company with a large international
footprint, we are subject to increased risk of damage or disruption to us and our employees, facilities, suppliers, distributors, or customers. Extraordinary events, including natural disasters,
resulting from but not limited to climate change, political disruptions, terrorist attacks, public health issues and acts of war may disrupt our business and operations and impact our supply chain
and access to necessary raw materials or could adversely affect the economy generally, resulting in a loss of sales and customers. Any of these disruptions or other extraordinary events outside
of our control that impact our operations or the operations of our suppliers and key distributors could affect our business negatively, harming operating results. Natural disasters and extreme
weather conditions may disrupt the productivity of our facilities. For example, two of our manufacturing plants are located within a floodplain that has experienced past flooding events. We also
have other manufacturing facilities located in hurricane and earthquake zones. We maintain insurance coverage and have taken steps to mitigate these physical risks related to natural disasters
and extreme weather conditions. Although we have taken steps to 7Table of Contentsmitigate the risk of flooding, there is still the potential for natural disasters and extreme weather conditions
to disrupt the productivity of our facilities. Apart from the potential impact on our operations, these types of events also could negatively impact consumer spending in the impacted regions or
depending on the severity, globally, which could materially and adversely affect our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.a- Our business could be adversely impacted by
changes in consumer purchasing behavior, consumer preferences, technological changes, and market trendsConsumer preferences for products and the methods in which they purchase
products are constantly changing based on, among other factors, cost, performance, convenience, availability of government incentives, environmental and social concerns and perceptions. As
consumer confidence changes, purchasing behavior may shift the product mix to lower priced models in the markets in which we participate or result in a shift to other distribution channels, for
example e-commerce. Consumer preferences and broader trends, such as decarbonization and electrification efforts in response to climate change, may result in reduced demand for gas or
fossil fuel-powered products and increased demand for higher efficiency products and/or more electric powered products. In addition, technologies are ever changing. Our ability to respond to
these trends, timely transition our product portfolio, develop new and innovative products, and acquire and protect the necessary intellectual property rights is essential to our continued
success, but cannot reasonably be assured. It is possible that we will not be able to develop new technologies, products or distribution channels, or do so on a timely basis, to align with
consumer purchasing behavior and consumer preferences, which could materially and adversely affect our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.a- Our operations could be
adversely impacted by material and component price volatility, as well as supplier concentrationThe market prices for certain materials and components we purchase, primarily steel, can be
volatile. In recent years, we have also experienced inflation-related increases in our transportation and other costs. In addition tariffs could potentially increase volatility in steel and other input
materials. Significant increases in the cost of any of the key materials and components we purchase would increase our cost of doing business and ultimately could lead to lower operating
earnings if we are not able to recover these cost increases through price increases to our customers. Historically, there has been a lag in our ability to recover increased material costs from
customers, and that lag, could negatively impact our profitability. In some cases, we are dependent on a limited number of suppliers for some of the raw materials and components we require in
the manufacturing of our products. A significant disruption or termination of the supply from one of these suppliers could delay sales or increase costs which could result in a material adverse
effect on our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.a- Because we participate in markets that are highly competitive, our revenues and earnings could decline as we respond
to competitionWe sell all of our products in highly competitive and evolving markets. We compete in each of our targeted markets based on product design, reliability, quality of products and
services, advanced technologies, product performance, maintenance costs and price. Some of our competitors may have greater financial, marketing, manufacturing, research and development
and distribution resources than we have; others may invest little in technology or product development but compete on price and the rapid replication of features, benefits, and technologies,
and some are increasingly expanding beyond their existing manufacturing or geographic footprints. New technologies and new competitors have developed and continue to develop in certain
markets in which we participate, such as gas tankless and heat pump technologies in North America. While we design and manufacture these and other products, we cannot assure that our
products will continue to compete successfully with those of our current competitors and new market participants and it is possible that we will not be able to retain our customer base or
improve or maintain our profit margins on sales to our customers. There is also increasing use of data analytics, machine learning, and artificial intelligence software, which our competitors
may be able to use more effectively or implement more successfully than we are able to do. Failure to adapt to the evolving competitive environment could materially and adversely affect our
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.a- Because approximately 21 percent of our sales in 2024 were attributable to China, adverse economic conditions or changes in
consumer behavior in China could impact our businessOur third-party sales in China decreased six percent in local currency in 2024 compared to 2023. We derive a substantial portion of our
sales in China from premium-tier products. Changes in consumer preferences and purchasing behaviors including preferences for e-commerce and manufacturer emphasis on brand ecosystems
and connectivity, weakening consumer confidence and sentiment, as well as economic uncertainty, sociopolitical and demographic risks, availability of 8Table of Contentsgovernment incentives,
and increased competition from Chinese-based companies may prompt Chinese consumers to postpone purchases, choose lower-priced products or different alternatives, or lengthen the cycle
of replacement purchases. Further deterioration in the Chinese economy may adversely affect our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.Business, Operational, and Strategic
Risksa- We sell our products and operate outside the U.S., and to a lesser extent, rely on imports and exports, which may present additional risks to our business Approximately 32 percent of
our sales in 2024 were attributable to products sold outside of the U.S., primarily in China and Canada, and to a lesser extent in Europe and India. We also have operations and business
relationships outside the U.S. that comprise a portion of our manufacturing, supply, and distribution. Approximately 5,000 of our 12,700 employees as of December 31, 2024 were located in
China. At December 31, 2024, approximately $206 million of cash and marketable securities were held by our foreign subsidiaries, substantially all of which were located in China. International
operations generally are subject to various risks, including: political, religious, and economic instability; local labor market conditions; new or increased tariffs or other trade restrictions, or
changes to trade agreements; the impact of foreign government regulations, actions or policies; the effects of income taxes; governmental expropriation; the changes or imposition of statutory
restrictions which prohibit repatriation of cash; the imposition or increases in withholding and other taxes on remittances and other payments by foreign subsidiaries; labor relations problems;
the imposition of environmental or employment laws, or other restrictions or actions by foreign governments; and differences in business practices. Unfavorable changes in the political,
regulatory, or trade climate, diplomatic relations, or government policies, particularly in relation to countries where we have a presence, including Canada, China, India and Mexico, could have
a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows or our ability to repatriate funds to the U.S. - A material loss, cancellation, reduction, or delay in
purchases by one or more of our largest customers could harm our businessSales to our five largest customers represented approximately 42 percent of our sales in 2024. We expect that our
customer concentration will continue for the foreseeable future. Our concentration of sales to a relatively small number of customers makes our relationships with each of these customers
important to our business. We cannot assure that we will be able to retain our largest customers. Some of our customers may shift their purchases to our competitors in the future. Our
customers may experience financial instability, affecting their ability to make or pay for future purchases. Further, a customer may be acquired by a customer of a competitor which could result
in our loss of that customer. The loss of one or more of our largest customers, any material reduction or delay in sales to these customers, or our inability to successfully develop relationships
with additional customers could have a material adverse effect on our financial position, results of operations and cash flows.a- A portion of our business could be adversely affected by a decline
in North American new residential or commercial construction or a decline in replacement-related volume of water heaters and boilers, including a decline in demand for commercial
spacesResidential new construction activity in North America and industry-wide replacement-related volume of water heaters were flat in 2024 after growth in 2023. New residential housing
starts in the U.S. are projected to be approximately flat in 2025. Commercial construction activity in North America grew in 2024, although at a slower rate than 2023. We believe that the
significant majority of the markets we serve are for the replacement of existing products, and residential water heater replacement volume has been strong. In recent years, businesses and
commercial spaces have experienced and may experience in the future, fluctuation in demand and in occupancy that may reduce demand for our products, and commercial sectors, such as the
restaurant and hospitality industries in which we have customers, may experience long-term shifts in consumer behavior which could negatively impact demand or capacity and may not return
to pre-pandemic levels. In addition, the acceptance of remote work arrangements could negatively impact demand for commercial construction. Changes in the replacement volume and in the
construction market in North America could negatively affect us.a- An inability to adequately maintain our information systems and their security, as well as to protect data and other
confidential information, could adversely affect our business and reputationIn the ordinary course of business, we utilize information systems for day-to-day operations, to collect and store
sensitive data and information, including our proprietary and regulated business information and personally identifiable information of our customers, suppliers and business partners, as well as
personally identifiable information about our employees. Our information systems are susceptible to outages due to system failures, cybersecurity threats, failures on the part of third-party
information system providers, natural disasters, power loss, telecommunications failures, viruses, fraud, theft, malicious 9Table of Contentsactors or breaches of security. Like many companies,
we, and some third parties upon which we rely, have experienced cybersecurity incidents and attacks on information technology networks and systems, products and services in the past but, to
date, none have resulted in a material breach or had a material adverse impact on our financial condition, results of operations, or cash flows. We may experience such incidents and attacks in
the future, potentially with increasing frequency from increasingly sophisticated cyber threats. In addition, remote work and remote access to our systems have increased in recent years, which
may heighten these risks. Use of artificial intelligence software may also create risks from unintentional disclosure of proprietary, confidential, personal or otherwise sensitive information.
Although we have a response plan in place in the event of a data breach and we have an active program to maintain and improve data security and address these risks and uncertainties by
implementing and improving internal controls, security technologies, insurance programs, network and data center resiliency and recovery processes, a successful attack in the future could
result in operations failure or breach of security that could lead to disruptions of our business activities and the loss or disclosure of both our and our customersa€™ financial, product and other
confidential information and could result in regulatory actions, significant expense and litigation and have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations and cash
flows and our reputation. 4- Our international operations are subject to risks related to foreign currenciesWe have a significant presence outside of the U.S., primarily in China and Canada and
to a lesser extent Europe, Mexico, and India, and therefore, hold assets, including $119 million of cash and marketable securities denominated in Chinese renminbi, incur liabilities, earn
revenues and pay expenses in a variety of currencies other than the U.S. dollar. The financial statements of our foreign subsidiaries are translated into U.S. dollars in our consolidated financial
statements. Furthermore, typically our products are priced in foreign countries in local currencies. As a result, we are subject to risks associated with operating in foreign countries, including
fluctuations in currency exchange rates and interest rates, or global exchange rate instability or volatility that strengthens the U.S. dollar against foreign currencies. An increase in the value of
the U.S. dollar relative to the local currencies of our foreign markets, particularly in China, has negatively affected our sales, profitability, and cash and cash equivalents balances and could
have such effects in the future. In 2024, the change in foreign currencies negatively impacted our sales and cash and cash equivalents by approximately $18 million and $7 million, respectively.
In addition to currency translation risks, we incur a currency transaction risk whenever one of our subsidiaries enters into a purchase or sale transaction using a currency different from the
operating subsidiariesa€™ functional currency. The majority of our foreign currency transaction risk results from sales of our products in Canada, a portion of which we manufacture in the U.S.,
and to a lesser extent from component purchases in Europe and India and payroll in Mexico. These risks may adversely impact our reported sales and profits in the future or negatively impact
revenues and earnings translated from foreign currencies into U.S. dollars.a- Our business may be adversely impacted by product defectsProduct defects can occur through our own product
development, design and manufacturing processes or through our reliance on third parties for component design and manufacturing activities. We may incur various expenses related to
product defects, including product warranty costs, product liability and recall or retrofit costs. While we maintain a reserve for product warranty costs based on certain estimates and our
knowledge of current events and actions, our actual warranty costs may exceed our reserve, resulting in current period expenses and a need to increase our reserves for warranty charges. In
addition, product defects and recalls may diminish the reputation of our brand. Further, our inability to cure a product defect could result in the failure of a product line or the temporary or
permanent withdrawal from a product or market. Any of these events may have a material adverse impact on our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.a- Potential
acquisitions could use a significant portion of our capital and we may not successfully integrate future acquisitions or operate them profitably or achieve strategic objectivesWe will continue to
evaluate potential acquisitions, and we could use a significant portion of our available capital to fund future acquisitions. We may not be able to successfully integrate future acquired businesses
or operate them profitably or accomplish our strategic objectives for those acquisitions. If we complete any future acquisitions in new geographies, our unfamiliarity with relevant regulations



and market conditions may impact our ability to operate them profitably or achieve our strategic objectives for those acquisitions. Our level of indebtedness may increase in the future if we
finance acquisitions with debt, which would cause us to incur additional interest expense and could increase our vulnerability to general adverse economic and industry conditions and limit our
ability to service our debt or obtain additional financing. The impact of future acquisitions may have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations and cash
flows.10Table of ContentsLegal, Regulatory, and Governance Risksd- Changes in regulations or standards, such as those associated with climate change, could adversely affect our businessOur
products are subject to a wide variety of statutory, regulatory, codes and industry standards and requirements related to, among other items, energy and water efficiency, environmental
emissions, labeling and safety. For example, the Department of Energy (DOE) has adopted a new efficiency rule for commercial water heaters that will take effect in 2026 and for our residential
water heaters that will take effect in 2029. In addition, new national drinking water standards regulating per- and poly-fluoroalkyl substances (PFAS), as well as lead, could affect the demand
for our water filtration products. There are also a number of federal, foreign, state and local governments adopting laws, regulations and codes in response to climate change that require a
transition to non-fossil fuel based sources of energy production as well as significantly reducing or eliminating the on-site combustion of fossil fuels in the building sector. We believe our
products are currently efficient, safe and environment-friendly. However, a significant change to regulatory or code requirements that promotes a transition to alternative energy sources as a
replacement for gas, or a significant shift in industry standards, could substantially increase manufacturing costs, capital expenditures, transportation costs and raw material costs, alter
distribution channels, attract new competitors, impact the size and timing of demand for our products, affect the types of products we are able to offer or put us at a competitive disadvantage,
any of which could harm our business and have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations and cash flow.a- We are subject to U.S. and global laws and regulations
covering our domestic and international operations that could adversely affect our business and results of operationsDue to our global operations, we are subject to many laws governing
international relations, including those that prohibit improper payments to government officials and restrict where we can do business, what information or products we can supply to certain
countries and what information we can provide to a non-U.S. government, including but not limited to the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and the U.S. Export Administration Act. Violations of
these laws may result in criminal penalties or sanctions that could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.a- Our sustainability
commitments could result in additional costs, and our inability to achieve them could have an adverse impact on our reputation and performanceWe periodically communicate our strategies,
commitments and targets related to sustainability matters, including carbon emissions, water usage, and human rights, through the issuance of our sustainability report. Although we intend to
meet these strategies, commitments and targets and are committed to advancing sustainable innovations in our industry, we may be unable to achieve them due to availability of resources,
significant increases in operational costs, and technological changes. Failure to meet these sustainability requirements or targets could adversely impact our reputation as well as the demand
for our products and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. In addition, standards and processes for measuring and reporting carbon emissions, water
usage, and other sustainability metrics may change over time, result in inconsistent data, or result in significant revisions to our strategies, commitments and targets, or our ability to achieve
them. Any scrutiny of our carbon emissions or other sustainability disclosures or our failure to achieve related strategies, commitments and targets could negatively impact our reputation or
performance.a- Our results of operations may be negatively impacted by product liability lawsuits and claimsOur products expose us to potential product liability risks that are inherent in the
design, manufacture, sale and use of our products. While we currently maintain what we believe to be suitable product liability insurance, we cannot be certain that we will be able to maintain
this insurance on acceptable terms, that this insurance will provide adequate protection against potential liabilities or that our insurance providers will be able to ultimately pay all insured
losses. In addition, we self-insure a portion of product liability claims. A series of successful claims against us could materially and adversely affect our reputation and our financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows.11Table of Contentsd- We have significant goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets and an impairment of our goodwill or indefinite-lived intangible
assets could cause a decline in our net worthOur total assets include significant goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets. Our goodwill results from our acquisitions, representing the
excess of the purchase prices we paid over the fair value of the net tangible and intangible assets we acquired. We assess whether there have been impairments in the value of our goodwill or
indefinite-lived intangible assets during the fourth quarter of each calendar year or sooner if triggering events warrant. If future operating performance at our businesses does not meet
expectations, we may be required to reflect non-cash charges to operating results for goodwill or indefinite-lived intangible asset impairments. The recognition of an impairment of a significant
portion of goodwill or indefinite-lived intangible assets would negatively affect our results of operations and total capitalization, the effect of which could be material. A significant reduction in
our stockholdersa€™ equity due to an impairment of goodwill or indefinite-lived intangible assets may affect our ability to maintain the debt-to-capital ratio required under our existing debt
arrangements. We have identified the valuation of goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets as a critical accounting policy. See &€ceManagementa€™ s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations - Critical Accounting Policies - Goodwill and Indefinite-lived Intangible Assetsa€ included in Item 7 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.a- Certain members
of the founding family of our company and trusts for their benefit have the ability to influence all matters requiring stockholder approvalWe have two classes of common equity: our Common
Stock and our Class A Common Stock. The holders of Common Stock currently are entitled, as a class, to elect only one-third of our Board of Directors. The holders of Class A Common Stock are
entitled, as a class, to elect the remaining directors. Certain members of the founding family of our company and trusts for their benefit (Smith Family) have entered into a voting trust
agreement with respect to shares of our Class A Common Stock and shares of our Common Stock they own. As of December 31, 2024, through the voting trust, these members of the Smith
Family own approximately 66.8 percent of the total voting power of our outstanding shares of Class A Common Stock and Common Stock, taken together as a single class, and approximately
96.9 percent of the voting power of the outstanding shares of our Class A Common Stock, as a separate class. Due to the differences in the voting rights between shares of our Common Stock
(one-tenth of one vote per share) and shares of our Class A Common Stock (one vote per share), the Smith Family voting trust is in a position to control to a large extent the outcome of matters
requiring a stockholder vote, including the adoption of amendments to our certificate of incorporation or bylaws or approval of transactions involving a change of control. This ownership
position may increase if other members of the Smith Family enter into the voting trust agreement, and the voting power relating to this ownership position may increase if shares of our Class A
Common Stock held by stockholders who are not parties to the voting trust agreement are converted into shares of our Common Stock. The voting trust agreement provides that, in the event
one of the parties to the voting trust agreement wants to withdraw from the trust or transfer any of its shares of our Class A Common Stock, such shares of our Class A Common Stock are
automatically exchanged for shares of our Common Stock held by the trust to the extent available in the trust. In addition, the trust will have the right to purchase the shares of our Class A
Common Stock and our Common Stock proposed to be withdrawn or transferred from the trust. As a result, the Smith Family members that are parties to the voting trust agreement have the
ability to maintain their collective voting rights in our company even if certain members of the Smith Family decide to transfer their shares.ITEMA 1B 4€“ UNRESOLVED STAFF
COMMENTSNone. 12Table of ContentsITEMA 1C 4€“ CYBERSECURITY Cybersecurity GovernanceWe recognize the importance of maintaining the safety and security of our systems and data
and have a holistic process for overseeing and managing cybersecurity and related risks. This process is supported by both our management and our Board of Directors.Our Chief Information
Officer (CIO) oversees our information systems and cybersecurity function and reports to our Chief Operating Officer (COO). She has over 30 years of experience in leading information systems
management, strategy, and operational execution, including incident management, prevention, and response. Our Senior Director of Global Information Security (ISD) reports to our CIO and is
responsible for the protection and defense of our networks and systems and managing cybersecurity risk. He has over 20 years of experience in managing cybersecurity and related risks,
including threat identification, incident response, and defense strategies. Our CIO and ISD are supported by a direct and cross-functional team of professionals with broad experience and
expertise in threat assessment and detection, mitigation technologies, training, incident response, and regulatory compliance.Our Board of Directors is responsible for overseeing our enterprise
risk management activities in general, which includes our management of information and cybersecurity risk. The full Board receives an update on our cyber risk management process and
trends related to cybersecurity at least annually, or real-time if a material event occurs. The Audit Committee of the Board assists the full Board in its oversight of cybersecurity risks. As part of
its oversight, the Audit Committee receives regular reports from management on information systems and security, including metrics and controls at each meeting, and other items at least
annually including risk assessments, security software, incident response plans, and key updates to the cybersecurity program and its effectiveness.We have also established a committee of our
executive leadership team to consider cybersecurity risks and to consider mitigation strategies in managing the risk. Our CIO and ISD participate on this committee, which meets regularly. We
have an established incident response plan led by our CIO and ISD to assess, respond, and report in the event of a cybersecurity incident. Depending on the nature and severity of the incident,
the plan requires escalating notifications up to our CEO, Audit Committee and our Board. Cybersecurity Risk ManagementOur cybersecurity risk management program is integrated into our
overall enterprise risk management program, and shares common methodologies, reporting channels and governance processes that apply across the enterprise risk management program
consistent with other legal, compliance, strategic, operational, and financial risk areas. Our program is guided by cybersecurity frameworks, such as the National Institute of Standards and
Technology Cybersecurity Framework (NIST CSF), although we also look to other standards to help us identify, assess, and manage cybersecurity risks relevant to our business.The Company
has a robust cybersecurity program to assess, identify and manage material risk from cybersecurity threats and to prevent, detect and respond to cybersecurity threats, including those
associated with the use of third-party service providers. Our approach to cybersecurity risk management includes:a€¢Cybersecurity awareness training, including interactive simulations and
tabletop exercises for our employees, incident response personnel, senior management, and our Board;&€¢Periodic risk assessments designed to help identify significant or potentially material
cybersecurity risks to our critical systems, information, and our broader enterprise information technology (IT) environment;a€¢The use of external service providers, where appropriate, to
assess, test or otherwise assist with aspects of our security controls;4€¢A multi-layered defense and continuous monitoring strategy employing various tools and testing, and incorporating
lessons learned from our defense and monitoring efforts to help prevent future attacks;a€¢Regular testing by our Internal Audit function of controls related to our financial information systems;
anda€¢Information security assessments conducted on third parties with whom we share sensitive electronic data against established cybersecurity frameworks;While we have experienced
cybersecurity incidents in the past, to-date none have materially affected the Company or our financial position, results of operations and/or cash flows. We continue to invest in cybersecurity
and the resiliency of our networks, including our controls and processes, all of which are designed in an effort to protect our IT systems and infrastructure, and the information they contain. For
more information regarding the risks we face from cybersecurity threats, please see Item 1A - Risk Factors.13Table of ContentsITEMA 2 4€“ PROPERTIESProperties utilized by us at
DecemberA 31, 2024 were as follows: North Americaln this segment, we have 23 manufacturing and assembly plants located in 13 states and two non-U.S. countries, of which 18 are owned
directly by us or our subsidiaries and five are leased from outside parties. The terms of leases in effect at DecemberA 31, 2024, expire between 2025 and 2028.Rest of WorldIn this segment, we
have five manufacturing plants located in three non-U.S. countries, of which four are owned directly by us or our subsidiaries and one is leased from an outside party. The terms of the lease in
effect at DecemberA 31, 2024, expire in 2035.Corporate and GeneralWe consider our plants and other physical properties to be suitable, adequate, and of sufficient productive capacity to meet
the requirements of our business. Our manufacturing plants operate at varying levels of utilization depending on the type of operation and market conditions. The executive offices of the
Company, which are leased, are located in Milwaukee, Wisconsin. ITEMA 3 4€“ LEGAL PROCEEDINGSWe are involved in various unresolved legal actions, administrative proceedings and
claims in the ordinary course of our business involving product liability, property damage, insurance coverage, exposure to asbestos and other substances, patents and environmental matters,
including the disposal of hazardous waste. Although it is not possible to predict with certainty the outcome of these unresolved legal actions or the range of possible loss or recovery, we believe,
based on past experience, adequate reserves and insurance availability, that these unresolved legal actions will not have a material effect on our financial position or results of operations. A
more detailed discussion of certain of these matters appears in Note 16, &ceCommitments and Contingenciesa€ of Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.ITEMA 4 4€“ MINE SAFETY
DISCLOSURESNOot applicable. 14Table of ContentsEXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE COMPANYPursuant to General Instruction of G(3) of Form 10-K, the following is a list of our executive
officers which is included as an unnumbered Item in Part I of this report in lieu of being included in our Proxy Statement for our 2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.Name (Age)Positions
HeldPeriod Position Was HeldSamuel M. Carver (55)Senior Vice President &€“ Global Operations2021 to PresentVice President 4€“ North America Manufacturing2011 to 2021Various A. O.
Smith Management Positions2006 to 2011Robert J. Heideman (58)Senior Vice President 4€“ Chief Technology Officer2013 to PresentSenior Vice President &€ EngineeringA & Technology2011
to 2012Various A. O. Smith Management Positions2002 to 2011D. Samuel Karge (50)Senior Vice President2018 to PresentPresident &€“ North America Water Treatment2018 to PresentVice
President, Sales and Marketing 4€“ Zurn Industries (water solutions manufacturer)2016 to 2018Parag Kulkarni (57)Senior Vice President, International 2022 to PresentPresident - A. O. Smith
India Water Products Private Limited2022 to PresentManaging Director - A. O. Smith India Water Products Private Limited2015 to 2022Charles T. Lauber (62)Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer2019 to PresentSenior Vice President, Strategy and Corporate Development2013 to 2019Senior Vice President a€“ Chief Financial Officer &€ A. O. Smith Water Products
Company2006 to 2012Various A. O. Smith Management Positions1999 to 2006Stephen D. O'Brien (56)Senior Vice President2024 to PresentPresident and General Manager - North America
Water Heating2024 to PresentSenior Vice President; President - Lochinvar, LLC2022 to 2024Chief Operating Officer &€“ Lochinvar, LLC2021 to 2022Senior Vice President - Mitsubishi Electric
Trane US (manufacturer of heating and air-conditioning systems)2017 to 2021Jack Qiu (52)Senior Vice President2020 to PresentPresident - A. O. Smith China2020 to PresentVice President - A.
O. Smith China2012 to 2020Various A. O. Smith Management Positions2003 to 2012S. Melissa Scheppele (62)Senior Vice President - Chief Information Officer2020 to PresentVice President and
Chief Information Officer - Triumph Group (aerospace and defense business)2016 to 202015Table of ContentsName (Age)Positions HeldPeriod Position Was HeldDarrell W. Schuh (56)Senior
Vice President2024 to PresentPresident - Lochinvar, LLC2024 to PresentVice President and General Manager - APCOM and Water Systems2017 to 2024Vice President - Product
Engineering2012 to 2017Curtis E. Selby (57)Senior Vice President - Human Resources and Public Affairs2024 to PresentChief Operating Officer - Board & Brush Creative Studio (painting
workshops)2015 to 2024CHRO - Gardner Denver (manufacturer of compressors, blowers and vacuum pumps)2014 to 2015Vice President of International Human Resources - Regal Beloit
(manufacturer of electric motors)2011 to 2014Vice President of Global Human Resources - A. O. Smith Electrical Products Company2005 to 2011Director of Human Resources - A. O. Smith
Electrical Products Company2001 to 2005Stephen M. Shafer (49)President and Chief Operating Officer2024 to PresentPresident - Automotive and Aerospace Solutions Division of 3M Company
(manufacturer of specialized materials and products used in the manufacturing, maintenance and repair of vehicles and aircraft)2020 to 2024Senior Vice President and Chief Strategy Officer -
3M Company (manufacturer of building materials, adhesives, medical and home cleaning supplies)2019 to 2020James F. Stern (62)Executive Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary2007
to PresentPartner a€“ FoleyA & Lardner LLP (law firm)1997 to 2007Kevin J. Wheeler (65)Chairman2020 to PresentChief Executive Officer2018 to PresentPresident2017 to 2024President and
Chief Operating Officer2017 to 2018Senior Vice President2013 to 2017President and General Manager &€“ North America, India and Europe Water Heating2013 to 2017Various A. O. Smith
Management Positions1999 to 201316Table of ContentsPART IIITEMA 5 4€“ MARKET FOR REGISTRANT&€™S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES(a)Market Information. Our Common Stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol AOS. Our ClassA A Common Stock is not listed.
EQ Shareowner Services, P.O. Box 64874, St. Paul, Minnesota, 55164-0874 serves as the registrar, stock transfer agent and dividend reinvestment agent for our Common Stock and ClassA A
Common Stock.(b)Holders. As of JanuaryA 31, 2025, the approximate number of stockholders of record of Common Stock and ClassA A Common Stock were 471 and 131, respectively. The
actual number of stockholders is greater than this number of holders of record, and includes stockholders who are beneficial owners, but whose shares are held in street name by brokers and
other nominees.A This number of stockholders of record also does not include stockholders whose shares may be held in trust by other entities.(c)Dividends. Dividends declared on the common
stock are shown in Note 11, a€ceStockholders' Equitya€ of Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements appearing elsewhere herein.(d)Stock Repurchases. In 2024, the Board of Directors
approved adding 2,000,000 shares of Common Stock to an existing discretionary share repurchase authority. Under the share repurchase program, the Common Stock may be purchased
through a combination of Rule 10b5-1 automatic trading plan and discretionary purchases in accordance with applicable securities laws. The number of shares purchased and the timing of the
purchases will depend on a number of factors, including share price, trading volume and general market conditions, as well as working capital requirements, general business conditions and



other factors, including alternative investment opportunities. The stock repurchase authorization remains effective until terminated by our Board of Directors which may occur at any time,
subject to the parameters of any Rule 10b5-1 automatic trading plan that we may then have in effect. In 2024, we repurchased 3,755,337 shares at an average price of $81.43 per share and at a
total cost of $305.8 million. As of DecemberA 31, 2024, there were 1,746,125 shares remaining on the existing repurchase authorization. On January 26 2025, the Board of Directors approved
adding 5,000,000 shares of common stock to the existing discretionary share repurchase authority. Including the additional shares, we have 6,476,677 shares available for repurchase as of the
date of the Board of Directors' approval. We intend to spend approximately $400 million to repurchase Common Stock in 2025 through a combination of 10b5-1 plans and open-market
purchases.(e)Performance Graph. The following information in this Item 5 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K is not deemed to be &€cesoliciting materiala€ or to be d€cefileda€ with the SEC or
subject to Regulation 14A or 14C under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 or to the liabilities of SectionA 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and will not be deemed to be incorporated
by reference into any filing under the Securities Act of 1933 or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, except to the extent we specifically incorporate it by reference into such a filing.17Table of
ContentsThe graph below shows a five-year comparison of the cumulative shareholder return on our Common Stock with the cumulative total return of the StandardA & Poora€™s (S&P) 500
Index, S&P 500 Select Industrials Index, which are published indices. Comparison of Five-Year Cumulative Total Return From DecemberA 31, 2019 to DecemberA 31, 2024Assumes $100
Invested with Reinvestment of DividendsBasePeriodIndexed ReturnsCompany/Index12/31/1912/31/2012/31/2112/31/2212/31/2312/31/24A. O. Smith

Corporation100.0A 117.4A 186.9A 126.8A 186.1A 156.5A S&P 500 Index100.0A 118.4A 152.4A 124.8A 157.6A 197.0A S&P 500 Select Industrial

Index100.0A 111.0A 134.5A 127.1A 150.2A 176.4A ITEMA 6 4€“ SELECTED FINANCIAL DATANOot applicable. 18Table of ContentsITEMA 7 4€“ MANAGEMENT&€™S DISCUSSION AND
ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONSOVERVIEW Our company is comprised of two reporting segments: North America and Rest of World. Our Rest of
World segment is primarily comprised of China, Europe and India. Both segments manufacture and market comprehensive lines of residential and commercial gas, heat pump and electric water
heaters, boilers, tanks, and water treatment products. Both segments primarily manufacture and market in their respective region of the world. We continue to seek acquisitions that enable
geographic growth, expand our core business, and establish adjacencies. On November 1, 2024, we acquired Pureit from Unilever for approximately $125 million, subject to customary
adjustments. Pureit, a leading water purification business in South Asia, offers a broad range of residential water purification solutions and has annual sales of approximately USD $60 million.
The acquisition fits squarely in our core capabilities and doubles our market penetration in the South Asia region. In the first quarter of 2024, we acquired Impact Water Products, a privately-
held water treatment company. The acquisition supports our geographic expansion and growth strategy by expanding the West Coast presence of our water treatment business. Also, we
continue to look for opportunities to add to our existing product portfolio in high growth regions demonstrated by our previous introductions of kitchen products and connected product
technologies in China. We also recently introduced our internally designed and manufactured gas tankless water heaters in North America. In addition, we are expanding our commercial water
heater capacity in North America in preparation for the new efficiency rule for commercial water heaters that the Department of Energy (DOE) has adopted that will take effect in 2026.In 2024,
we recognized restructuring and impairment expenses of $17.6 million. In China, severance expenses of $11.3 million related to the right sizing of that business for current market conditions.
The remaining $6.3 million related to the restructuring of our water treatment business in North America as a part of a profitability improvement strategy that prioritizes improving our cost
structure and emphasizes our more profitable channels.In our North America segment, we saw soft residential and commercial water heater order demand in the second half of 2024 after a
strong first half of the year. We believe that a pre-buy ahead of our March 1st price increase pulled forward some demand into the first half of the year. We also believe our second half order
demand was negatively impacted by our improved lead times. Those factors along with caution around softening of end market demand may have driven some customers to reduce their
inventory levels. 2024 residential industry unit volumes were flat compared to the prior year and we project 2025 industry residential unit volumes will be flat as well. Proactive replacement has
been above historical levels for the last several years and we project that will continue in 2025. We believe that new home construction remains in a deficit and will be flat compared to 2024.
We anticipate that commercial water heater industry volumes will be approximately flat in 2025 after minimal growth in 2024 driven by growth in commercial electric water heaters greater
than 55 gallons which was offset by lower shipments of commercial gas water heaters. We expect our boilers sales to grow between three and five percent in 2025 compared to 2024 as we
continue to benefit from the transition to higher efficiency boilers. We anticipate sales of our North America water treatment products will be between $235 million and $245 million, a year-
over-year decrease of approximately five percent as we de-emphasize certain channels and focus on our more profitable channels.In our Rest of World segment, after sales growth of three
percent in the first half of the year, our full-year 2024 third-party sales in China declined six percent due to a further weakening of consumer demand in the second half of the year. In 2025, we
project our third-party sales in China to decrease between five to eight percent in local currency compared to 2024 as we expect consumer demand softness will persist in 2025. Combining all
of these factors, we expect our 2025 consolidated sales to be approximately flat to up two percent compared to 2024. Our guidance excludes the impacts from potential future
acquisitions.19Table of ContentsRESULTS OF OPERATIONS In this section, we discuss the results of our operations for 2024 compared with 2023. We discuss our cash flows and current
financial condition under a€ceLiquidity and Capital Resources.a€ For a discussion related to 2023 compared with 2022, please refer to Item 7 of Part II, & ceManagementa€™ s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operationsa€ in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the Year Ended December 31, 2023, which was filed with the United States Securities and
Exchange Commission (SEC) on February 13, 2024, and is available on the SEC's website at www.sec.gov. Years Ended December 31,(dollars in millions)202420232022Net

sales$3,818.1A $3,852.8A $3,753.9A Cost of products sold2,362.0A 2,368.0A 2,424.3A Gross profit1,456.1A 1,484.8A 1,329.6A Gross profit margin %38.1A %38.5A %35.4A %Selling, general
and administrative expenses739.3A 727.4A 670.9A Restructuring and impairment expenses17.6A 18.8A a€”A Interest expense6.7A 12.0A 9.4A Other (income) expense-net(8.5)

(6.9)425.6A Earnings before provision for income taxes701.0A 733.5A 223.7A Provision for (benefit from) income taxes167.4A 176.9A (12.0)Net Earnings$533.6A $556.6A $235.7A Our sales in
2024 were $3,818.1 million, a decrease of $34.7 million compared to 2023 sales of $3,852.8 million. Our decrease in net sales was primarily driven by lower water heater volumes in North
America, lower sales in China, and unfavorable currency translation of approximately $18 million due to the depreciation of foreign currencies compared to the U.S. dollar, which more than
offset our higher boiler sales and pricing actions. Our 2024 and 2023 acquisitions of water treatment companies in North America added approximately $18 million of incremental net sales in
2024. Our 2024 gross profit margin of 38.1 percent decreased compared to 38.5 percent in 2023. The lower gross profit margin in 2024 compared to 2023 was primarily due to higher
production costs and operational inefficiencies associated with volume volatility, which outpaced our pricing actions. Selling, general, and administrative (SG&A) expenses were $739.3 million
in 2024, or $11.9 million higher than in 2023. The increase in SG&A expenses in 2024 compared to the prior year was primarily due to higher employee costs from increased wages and higher
selling and advertising expenses to support our strategic initiatives. We recognized $17.6 million of restructuring and impairment expenses during the year ended December 31, 2024. Of these
expenses, $6.3 million was related to our water treatment business in the North America segment and was a result of a profitability improvement strategy that prioritizes improving our cost
structure and emphasizes our more profitable channels. In the Rest of World segment, restructuring included severance costs in China of $11.3 million and was related to the right sizing of that
business for current market conditions. Restructuring and impairment expenses in 2023 were $18.8 million, of which $15.7 million was recorded in the Rest of World segment and $3.1 million
was recorded in Corporate Expense and related primarily to the sale of our business in Turkey. Interest expense was $6.7 million in 2024, compared to $12.0 million in 2023. The decrease in
interest expense in 2024 compared to last year was primarily due to lower average debt levels.Other (income) expense, net was $8.5 million of income in 2024 compared to income of $6.9
million in 2023. The increase in other income was driven by lower foreign currency translation losses compared to last year, partially offset by lower interest income from lower average cash
balances. Our effective income tax rate in 2024 was lower compared to 2023. The change in the effective income tax rate in 2024 compared to the prior year was primarily due to the
restructuring and impairment expense recorded in 2023 with no associated tax benefit. We estimate that our annual effective income tax rate for the full year of 2025 will be approximately 24
to 24.5 percent. 20Table of ContentsWe are providing non-U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) measures (adjusted earnings, adjusted earnings per share (EPS), total segment
earnings, adjusted segment earnings, and adjusted corporate expense) that exclude the impact of restructuring and impairment expenses and pension settlement income. Reconciliations from
GAAP measures to non-GAAP measures are provided in the Non-GAAP Measures section below. We believe that the measures of adjusted earnings, adjusted EPS, total segment earnings,
adjusted segment earnings, and adjusted corporate expense provide useful information to investors about our performance and allow management and our investors to better understand our
performance between periods without regard to items that we do not consider to be a component of our core operating performance or recurring in nature.North America SegmentYears ended
December 31 (dollars in millions)20242023Net Sales$2,950.1A $2,922.9A Segment Earnings707.5A 726.7A Segment Margin24.0A %24.9A %Sales in our North America segment were $2,950.1
million in 2024, or $27.2 million higher than sales of $2,922.9 million in 2023. Compared to the prior year, pricing actions, higher boiler sales, and approximately $18 million of incremental net
sales from our 2024 and 2023 acquisitions of water treatment companies primarily drove our net sales increase and more than offset lower water heater volumes. North America segment
earnings were $707.5 million in 2024, or $19.2 million lower than segment earnings of $726.7 million in 2023. Segment margins were 24.0 percent and 24.9 percent in 2024 and 2023,
respectively. Lower segment earnings and margins in 2024 were primarily due to lower water heater volumes, higher production costs and higher SG&A expenses associated with strategic
investments that outpaced our pricing actions and higher boiler volumes. Segment earnings and margin in 2024 also included restructuring and impairment expenses of $6.3 million related to
our water treatment business and a result of a profitability improvement strategy that prioritizes improving our cost structure and emphasizes our more profitable channels.Adjusted segment
earnings and adjusted segment margin in 2024 were $713.8 million and 24.2 percent, respectively, which excludes $6.3 million of pre-tax restructuring and impairment expenses. Adjusted
segment earnings and adjusted segment margin in 2023 were $726.0 million and 24.8 percent, respectively, and exclude pension settlement income. We estimate our 2025 North America
segment margin will be approximately 24.0 to 24.5 percent.Rest of World SegmentYears ended December 31 (dollars in millions)20242023Net Sales$918.6A $956.9A Segment

Earnings64.5A 83.4A Segment Margin7.0A %8.7A %Sales in our Rest of World segment were $918.6 million in 2024, or $38.3 million lower than sales of $956.9 million in 2023. Compared to
the prior year, lower net sales in 2024 were primarily driven by decreased sales of our core water heating and water treatment products in China and included approximately $13 million of
unfavorable currency translation. The decline in sales in 2024 was partially offset by higher volumes of kitchen products in China and included increased inter-segment sales of approximately
$16 million related to our tankless water heaters manufactured in China and shipped to the U.S. market. Rest of World segment earnings were $64.5 million in 2024 and lower compared to
$83.4 million in 2023. Segment margins were 7.0 percent and 8.7 percent in 2024 and 2023, respectively. Lower volumes of our core water heating and water treatment products and an
unfavorable product mix and sales promotions in China primarily drove lower segment earnings and segment margin in 2024, partially offset by lower SG&A costs. Segment earnings and
margin in 2024 and 2023 included restructuring and impairment expenses of $11.3 million and $15.7 million, respectively. Restructuring and impairment expenses in 2024 were severance costs
in China related to the right sizing of that business for current market conditions, and 2023 expenses were primarily associated with the sale of our business in Turkey.21Table of
ContentsAdjusted segment earnings and adjusted segment margin in 2024 were $75.8 million and 8.3 percent, respectively. Adjusted segment earnings and adjusted segment margin in 2023
were $99.1 million and 10.4 percent, respectively. Adjusted segment earnings and adjusted segment margin in 2024 and 2023 exclude $11.3 million and $15.7 million of restructuring and
impairment expenses, respectively. We estimate our 2025 Rest of World segment margin will be approximately eight to nine percent.LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES Our working capital
was $495.7 million at December 31, 2024, compared with $555.0 million at December 31, 2023. The decrease in working capital was primarily related to lower cash and receivable balances,
partially offset by higher inventory balances, lower accounts payable and lower payroll-related accruals. As of December 31, 2024, cash balances were negatively impacted by $6.6 million due to
changes in foreign currency during the year. Cash and cash equivalents used to fund our operations are primarily generated through operating activities and our existing credit facilities. We
believe our available cash and existing credit facilities are sufficient to cover our cash needs for the foreseeable future. We use a global cash pooling arrangement, intercompany borrowing, and
some local credit lines to meet funding needs and allocate capital resources among various entities. We have historically made and anticipate future cash repatriations from certain foreign
subsidiaries. In 2024, we repatriated approximately $90 million of cash from our foreign subsidiaries and used the proceeds to pay down outstanding debt balances and fund acquisitions. Years
ended December 31 (dollars in millions)20242023Cash provided by operating activities$581.8A $670.3A Cash used in investing activities(267.1)(24.1)Cash used in financing activities(408.4)
(684.7)Cash provided by operations in 2024 was $581.8 million and lower than $670.3 million in 2023, primarily as a result of higher incentive payments associated with record sales and profits
earned in 2023, higher inventory balances and lower earnings, which more than offset lower trade receivable balances. Our free cash flow in 2024 and 2023 was $473.8 million and $597.7
million, respectively. We expect cash provided by operating activities to be between $600 million and $650 million in 2025. We expect free cash flow to be between $500 million and $550
million in 2025. Free cash flow is a non-GAAP measure described in more detail in the Non-GAAP Measures section below. Capital expenditures totaled $108.0 million in 2024 compared with
$72.6 million in 2023. Higher capital expenditures compared to the prior year were primarily due to our capacity expansion projects in Juarez, Mexico and McBee, South Carolina and our new
engineering facility in Lebanon, Tennessee. We project that 2025 capital expenditures will be between $90 million and $100 million and full-year depreciation and amortization expense will be
approximately $80 million.In 2024, we renewed and amended our $500 million revolving credit facility ("renewed facility") which now expires on August 23, 2029. The renewed facility is with a
group of nine banks and has an accordion provision that allows it to be increased up to $1 billion if certain conditions (including lender approval) are satisfied. Borrowing rates under the
renewed facility are determined by our leverage ratio. The renewed facility requires us to maintain two financial covenants, a leverage ratio test and an interest coverage test, and we were in
compliance with the covenants as of December 31, 2024, and expect to be in compliance for the foreseeable future. The renewed facility backs up commercial paper and credit line borrowings.
At December 31, 2024, we had $30.0 million of borrowings outstanding under the renewed facility and an available borrowing capacity of $470.0 million. We believe the combination of available
borrowing capacity and operating cash flows will provide sufficient funds to finance our existing operations for the foreseeable future.Our total debt increased by $65.9 million in 2024 primarily
due to borrowings associated with our share repurchase program and Pureit acquisition. Our leverage, as measured by the ratio of total debt to total capitalization, was 9.3 percent at December
31, 2024, compared with 6.5 percent at December 31, 2023.In 2024, our Board of Directors approved adding 2,000,000 shares of common stock to our existing discretionary share repurchase
authority. Under our share repurchase program, we may purchase our common stock through a combination of a Rule 10b5-1 automatic trading plan and discretionary purchases in accordance
with applicable securities laws. The stock repurchase authorization remains effective until terminated by our Board of Directors, which may occur at any time, subject to the parameters of any
Rule 10b5-1 automatic trading plan that we may then have in effect. During 2024, we repurchased 3,755,337 shares of our stock at a total cost of $305.8 million. As of December 31, 2024, we
had 1,746,125 shares remaining on the share repurchase authority. On January 26, 2025, the Board of Directors approved adding 5,000,000 shares of common stock to the existing discretionary
share repurchase authority. Including the additional shares, we had 6,476,677 shares 22Table of Contentsavailable for repurchase as of the date of the Board of Directors' approval. We intend
to repurchase approximately $400 million of our common stock in 2025 through a combination of 10b5-1 plans and open-market purchases.We paid dividends of $1.30 per share in 2024
compared with $1.22 per share in 2023. We increased our dividend by six percent in the fourth quarter of 2024, and the five-year compound annual growth rate of our dividend payment is
approximately eight percent. We have paid dividends for 85 consecutive years with annual amounts increasing each of the last 33 years.Recent Accounting Pronouncements Refer to Recent
Accounting Pronouncements in Note 1, &€ceOrganization and Significant Accounting Policiesa€ of Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.Critical Accounting Policies Our accounting
policies are described in Note 1, 4€ceOrganization and Significant Accounting Policiesa€ of Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. Also as disclosed in NoteA 1, the preparation of
financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the U.S. requires the use of estimates and assumptions about future events that affect the amounts reported
in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Future events and their effects cannot be determined with absolute certainty. Therefore, the determination of estimates requires the
exercise of judgment. Actual results inevitably will differ from those estimates, and such differences may be material to the financial statements. The most significant accounting estimates
inherent in the preparation of our financial statements include estimates associated with the evaluation of the impairment of goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets and significant



estimates used in the determination of the liability related to product warranties. Various assumptions and other factors underlie the determination of these significant estimates. The process of
determining significant estimates is fact-specific and takes into account factors such as historical experience and trends, and in some cases, actuarial techniques. We monitor these significant
factors and adjustments are made as facts and circumstances dictate. Historically, actual results have not significantly deviated from those determined using the estimates described above.
Goodwill and Indefinite-lived Intangible Assets In conformity with GAAP, goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets are tested for impairment annually or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the assets might be impaired. We perform impairment reviews for our reporting units using a fair-value method based on managementa€™s judgments
and assumptions. The fair value represents the estimated amount at which a reporting unit could be bought or sold in a current transaction between willing parties on an arms-length basis. The
estimated fair value is then compared with the carrying amount of the reporting unit, including recorded goodwill. We are subject to financial statement risk to the extent that goodwill and
indefinite-lived intangible assets become impaired. Any impairment review is, by its nature, highly judgmental as estimates of future sales, earnings and cash flows are utilized to determine fair
values. However, we believe that we conduct a thorough and competent annual quantitative analysis of goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets. Based on the annual goodwill impairment
test, we determined there was no impairment of our goodwill as of DecemberA 31, 2024. The fair value of each of our reporting units significantly exceeded its carrying value and a 20 percent
decrease in the estimated fair value of our reporting units would not have resulted in a different conclusion. Based on the annual indefinite-lived assets impairment test, we determined there
was no impairment of our indefinite-lived assets as of DecemberA 31, 2024. Product Warranty Our products carry warranties that generally range from one to 12 years and are based on terms
that are generally accepted in the market. We provide for the estimated cost of product warranty at the time of sale. The product warranty provision is estimated based on warranty loss
experience using actual historical failure rates and estimated costs of product replacement. The variables used in the calculation of the provision are reviewed at least annually. At times,
warranty issues may arise which are beyond the scope of our historical experience. We provide for any such warranty issues as they become known and estimable. While our warranty costs
have historically been within calculated estimates, it is possible that future warranty costs could differ significantly from those estimates. The allocation of the warranty liability between current
and long-term is based on the expected warranty liability to be paid in the next year as determined by historical product failure rates. At DecemberA 31, 2024 and 2023, our reserve for product
warranties was $190.4A million and $188.1A million, respectively.23Table of ContentsNon-GAAP Measures We are providing non-U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP)
measures (adjusted earnings, adjusted EPS, total segment earnings, adjusted segment earnings, and adjusted corporate expense) that exclude the impact of restructuring and impairment
expenses and pension settlement income. Reconciliations from GAAP measures to non-GAAP measures are provided below. We believe that the measures of adjusted earnings, adjusted EPS,
adjusted segment earnings and adjusted corporate expense provide useful information to investors about our performance and allow management and our investors to better understand our
performance between periods without regard to items that we do not consider to be a component of our core operating performance or recurring in nature.A. O. SMITH CORPORATIONAdjusted
Earnings and Adjusted Earnings Per Share(dollars in millions, except per share data)(unaudited)The following is a reconciliation of net earnings and diluted earnings per share to adjusted
earnings (non-GAAP) and adjusted earnings per share (non-GAAP):A Twelve Months EndedDecember 31,A 20242023Net Earnings (GAAP)$533.6A $556.6A Restructuring and impairment
expenses, before tax17.6A 18.8A Pension settlement income, before taxa€”A (0.9)Tax effect on above items(3.2)0.3A Adjusted Earnings (non-GAAP)$548.0A $574.8A Diluted Earnings Per Share
(GAAP)(1)$3.63A $3.69A Restructuring and impairment expenses, per diluted share, before tax0.12A 0.12A Pension settlement income per diluted share, before taxa€”A a€”A Tax effect on
above items per diluted share(0.02)a€ "A Adjusted Earnings Per Share (non-GAAP)(1)$3. 73A $3.81A (1) Earnings per share amounts are calculated discretely and, therefore, may not add up to
the total due to rounding.24Table of ContentsA. O. SMITH CORPORATIONAdjusted Segment Earnings(dollars in millions)(unaudited)The following is a reconciliation of reported earnings before
provision for income taxes to total segment earnings (non-GAAP) and adjusted segment earnings (non-GAAP): A Twelve Months EndedDecember 31,A 20242023Earnings Before Provision for
Income Taxes (GAAP)$701. 0A $733.5A Add: Corporate expense(1)63. 9A 64.1A Add: Interest expense6.7A 12.0A Total Segment Earnings (non- GAAP)$771. 6A $809.6A North

America(2)$707.5A $726.7A Rest of World(3)64.5A 83.4A Inter- segment earnings elimination(0.4)(0. 5)T0tal Segment Earnings (non- -GAAP)$771.6A $809.6A Additional Information(1)Corporate
expense$(63.9)$(64.1)Pension settlement income, before taxa€” "A (0. 2)Impairment expense, before taxa€’ ’A 3.1A Adjusted Corporate expense (non-GAAP)$(63.9)$(61.2)(2)North
America$707.5A $726.7A Restructuring and impairment expenses, before tax6.3A 4€”A Pension settlement income, before taxa€”A (0. 7)Adjusted North America (non-

GAAP)$713.8A $726.0A (3)Rest of World$64.5A $83.4A Restructuring and impairment expenses, before tax11.3A 15.7A Adjusted Rest of World (non-GAAP)$75.8A $99.1A 25Table of ContentsA.
O. SMITH CORPORATIONFree Cash Flow(dollars in millions)(unaudited)The following is a reconciliation of reported cash flow from operating activities to free cash flow (non-GAAP):Twelve
Months EndedDecember 31,20242023Cash provided by operating activities (GAAP)$581.8A $670.3A Less: Capital expenditures(108.0)(72.6)Free cash flow (non-GAAP)$473.8A $597.7A A. O.
SMITH CORPORATION2025 EPS Guidance and 2024 Adjusted EPS(unaudited)The following is a reconciliation of diluted EPS to adjusted EPS (non-GAAP) (all items are net of
tax):2025Guidance2024Diluted EPS (GAAP)$3.60 - 3.90$3.63A Restructuring and impairment expensesa€”A 0.10A (1)Adjusted EPS (non-GAAP)$3.60 - 3.90$3.73A (1) Includes pre-tax
restructuring and impairment expenses of $11.3 million and $6.3 million, within the Rest of World segment and North America segment, respectively.Outlook As we begin 2025, we expect our
consolidated sales to be approximately flat to up two percent compared to 2024. Our projection is driven by expected flat industry residential and commercial volumes. In our Rest of the World
segment, after a challenging 2024, we expect consumer demand softness will persist in 2025 in China and a decline in third-party sales. We expect full-year earnings of between $3.60 and $3.90
per share. Our guidance excludes the impacts of potential future acquisitions. OTHER MATTERS Environmental Our operations are governed by a number of federal, foreign, state, local and
environmental laws concerning the generation and management of hazardous materials, the discharge of pollutants into the environment and remediation of sites owned by the Company or
third parties. We have expended financial and managerial resources complying with such laws. Expenditures related to environmental matters were not material in 2024 and we do not expect
them to be material in any single year. We have reserves associated with environmental obligations at various facilities and we believe these reserves together with available insurance coverage
are sufficient to cover reasonably anticipated remediation costs. Although we believe that our operations are substantially in compliance with such laws and maintain procedures designed to
maintain compliance, there are no assurances that substantial additional costs for compliance will not be incurred in the future. However, since the same laws govern our competitors, we
should not be placed at a competitive disadvantage. Risk ManagementWe evaluate risk to our business in a number of ways, primarily through our Enterprise Risk Management (ERM) process,
which we conduct enterprise-wise on a periodic basis, and seeks to identify and address significant and material risks. Our ERM process assesses, manages, and monitors risks consistent with
the integrated risk framework in the Enterprise Risk Management-Integrated Framework (2017) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 26Table of
ContentsCommission (COSO). We believe that risk-taking is an inherent aspect of the pursuit of our strategy. Our goal is to manage risks prudently rather than avoid risks. We can mitigate risks
and their impact on our company only to a limited extent.A team of senior executives prioritizes identified risks, including decarbonization, new technologies and cyber threats among others,
and assigns an executive to address each major identified risk area and lead action plans to manage risks. Our Board of Directors provides oversight of the ERM process and reviews significant
identified risks. The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors also reviews significant financial risk exposures and the steps management has taken to monitor and manage them. Our other
Board committees also play a role in risk management, as set forth in their respective charters.Our goal is to proactively manage risks using a structured approach in conjunction with strategic
planning, with the intent to preserve and enhance shareholder value. However, the risks set forth in Item 1A - Risk Factors and elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and other risks
and uncertainties could adversely affect us and cause our results to vary materially from recent results or from our anticipated future results.Market Risk We are exposed to various types of
market risks, primarily currency. We monitor our risks in such areas on a continuous basis and generally enter into forward contracts to minimize such exposures. We do not engage in
speculation in our derivatives strategies. Further discussion regarding derivative instruments is contained in Note 1, a€ceOrganization and Significant Accounting Policiesa€ of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements. We enter into foreign currency forward contracts to minimize the effect of fluctuating foreign currencies. At December 31, 2024, we had net foreign
currency contracts outstanding with notional values of $70.1A million. Assuming a hypothetical ten percent movement in the respective currencies, the potential foreign exchange gain or loss
associated with the change in exchange rates would amount to $7.0 million. However, gains and losses from our forward contracts will be offset by gains and losses in the underlying
transactions being hedged. Forward-Looking Statements This filing contains statements that the Company believes are a€ceforward-looking statementsa€ within the meaning of the Private
Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Forward-looking statements generally can be identified by the use of words such as &€cemay,a€ a€cewill, &€ d€weexpect,a€ d€wintend,a€
d€ceestimate,a€ a€oeanticipate,a€ a€oebelieve,a€ a€ceforecast,a€ a€mecontinue,a€ a€oeguidance,a€ a€oeoutlooka€ or words of similar meaning. All forward-looking statements are subject to
risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those anticipated as of the date of this filing. Important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially
from these expectations include, among other things, the following: further softening in U.S. residential and commercial water heater demand; negative impacts to the Company, particularly the
demand for its products, resulting from global inflationary pressures or a potential recession in one or more of the markets in which the Company participates; the Companya€ ™s ability to
continue to obtain commodities, components, parts and accessories on a timely basis through its supply chain and at expected costs; negative impacts to demand for the Companya€™s
products, particularly commercial products, as a result of changes in commercial property usage that followed the COVID-19 pandemic; further weakening in North American residential or
commercial construction or instability in the Company's replacement markets; inability of the Company to implement or maintain pricing actions; inconsistent recovery of the Chinese economy
or a further decline in the growth rate of consumer spending or housing sales in China; the availability, timing or effects of China stimulus programs; negative impact to the Companya€™s
businesses from international tariffs, trade disputes and geopolitical differences, including the conflicts in Ukraine and the Middle East; potential weakening in the high-efficiency gas boiler
segment in the U.S.; substantial defaults in payment by, material reduction in purchases by or the loss, bankruptcy or insolvency of a major customer; foreign currency fluctuations; the
Companya€™s inability to successfully integrate or achieve its strategic objectives resulting from acquisitions; failure to realize the expected benefits of acquisitions or expected synergies;
failure to realize the expected benefits, timing and extent, of regulatory changes; competitive pressures on the Companya€™ s businesses; including new technologies and new competitors; the
impact of potential information technology or data security breaches; negative impact of changes in government regulations or regulatory requirements; the inability to respond to secular
trends toward decarbonization and energy efficiency and adverse developments in general economic, political and business conditions in key regions of the world. A more detailed description of
these risks is contained under the heading "Risk Factors" in Item 1A above. Forward-looking statements included in this filing are made only as of the date of this filing, and the Company is
under no obligation to update these statements to reflect subsequent events or circumstances. All subsequent written and oral forward-looking statements attributed to the Company, or persons
acting on its behalf, are qualified entirely by these cautionary statements. Forward-looking and other statements in this Form 10-K regarding our environmental and other sustainability plans
and goals are not an indication that these statements are necessarily material to investors or are required to be disclosed in our filings with the SEC. In addition, historical, current, and
forward-looking social, environmental and sustainability-related statements 27Table of Contentsmay be based on standards for measuring progress that are still developing, internal controls
and processes that continue to evolve, and assumptions that are subject to change in the future. Any such forward-looking statements made herein are based on information currently available
to us as of the date of this Report. We undertake no obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise,
except as required by law.ITEMA 7A 4€“ QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISKSee a€ceMarket Riska€ above. ITEMA 8 4€“ FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATAREPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRMTo the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of A. O. Smith Corporation Opinion on
the Financial Statements We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of A. O. Smith Corporation (the Company) as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the related consolidated
statements of earnings, comprehensive earnings, stockholdersa€™ equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2024, and the related notes and financial
statement schedule listed in the Index at Item 15(a) (collectively referred to as the a€ceconsolidated financial statementsa€). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly,
in all material respects, the financial position of the Company at December 31, 2024 and 2023, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2024, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States) (PCAOB), the Companya€™s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024, based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework), and our report dated FebruaryA 11, 2025 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.Basis
for Opinion These financial statements are the responsibility of the Companya€™ s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Companya€™ s financial statements based on
our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and
the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB. We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits
included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks.
Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles
used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinion.28Table of ContentsCritical Audit MatterThe critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the financial statements that was
communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to the financial statements and (2) involved our
especially challenging, subjective or complex judgments. The communication of the critical audit matter does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as
a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates.Product
Warranty Liability ValuationDescription of the MatterAt December 31, 2024, the Companya€™s product warranty liability was $190.4 million. As discussed in Note 1 of the consolidated
financial statements, the Company records a liability for the expected cost of warranty-related claims at the time of sale. The product warranty liability is estimated based upon warranty loss
experience using actual historical failure rates and estimated cost of product replacement. Products generally carry warranties from one to twelve years. The Company performs separate
warranty calculations based on the product type and the warranty term and aggregates them.Auditing the product warranty liability was complex due to the judgmental nature of the warranty
loss experience assumptions, including the estimated product failure rate and the estimated cost of product replacement. In particular, it is possible that future product failure rates may not be
reflective of historical product failure rates, or that a product quality issue has not yet been identified as of the financial statement date. Additionally, the cost of product replacement could
differ from estimates due to fluctuations in the replacement cost of the product.How We Addressed the Matter in our AuditWe obtained an understanding, evaluated the design, and tested the
operating effectiveness of controls over the Companya€™s product warranty liability calculation. For example, we tested controls over managementa€™s review of the product warranty liability
calculation, including the significant assumptions and the data inputs to the calculation. A To test the Companya€™s calculation of the product warranty liability, our audit procedures included,
among others, evaluating the methodology used, and testing the significant assumptions discussed above and the underlying data used by the Company in its analysis. We tested the validity of
claims within the calculation and tested the completeness and accuracy of the claims settled data. We recalculated the historical failure rates using actual claims data. We compared the
estimated cost of replacement included in the product warranty liability with the current costs to manufacture a comparable product and assessed the impact of projected changes in significant
product costs. We also analyzed current year claims data to identify changes in failure trends and assessed the historical accuracy of the prior year liability. Further, we inquired of operational
and quality control personnel regarding quality issues and trends./s/ ErnstA & Young LLP We have served as the Companya€™s auditor since 1917. Milwaukee, Wisconsin FebruaryA 11, 2025
29Table of ContentsCONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETSDecember 31 (dollars in millions)20242023AssetsCurrent AssetsCash and cash equivalents$239.6A $339.9A Marketable



securities36.5A 23.5A Receivables541.4A 596.0A Inventories532.1A 497.4A Other current assets43.3A 43.5A Total Current Assets1,392.9A 1,500.3A Net property, plant and

equipment628.7A 597.5A Goodwill761.7A 633.4A Other intangibles321.1A 336.7A Operating lease assets32.8A 37.3A Other assets102.8A 108.7A Total

Assets$3,240.0A $3,213.9A LiabilitiesCurrent LiabilitiesTrade payables$588.7A $600.4A Accrued payroll and benefits78.5A 92.2A Accrued liabilities153.0A 177.4A Product

warranties67.0A 65.3A Long-term debt due within one year10.0A 10.0A Total Current Liabilities897.2A 945.3A Long-term debt183.2A 117.3A Product warranties123.4A 122.8A Pension
liabilities11.0A 10.5A Long-term operating lease liabilities23.5A 27.9A Other liabilities118.2A 145.7A Total Liabilities1,356.5A 1,369.5A Commitments and

contingencies&a€”A a€”A Stockholdersa€™ EquityPreferred Stocka€”A a€”A ClassA A Common Stock (shares issued 26,014,825 and 26,023,132 as of December 31, 2024 and 2023,
respectively)130.1A 130.1A Common Stock (shares issued 164,692,769 and 164,684,460 as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively)164.7A 164.7A Capital in excess of par

value601.3A 578.2A Retained earningsS,GOl.BA 3,258.1A Accumulated other comprehensive loss(111.9)(84.2)Treasury stock at cost(2,502.0)(2,202.5)Total Stockholdersa€™

Equity1,883.5A 1,844.4A Total Liabilities and Stockholdersa€™ Equity$3,240.0A $3,213.9A See accompanying notes which are an integral part of these statements.30Table of
ContentsCONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF EARNINGS Years ended December 31 (dollars in millions, except per share amounts)202420232022Net sales$3,818.1A $3,852.8A $3,753.9A Cost of
products sold2,362.0A 2,368.0A 2,424.3A Gross profit1,456.1A 1,484.8A 1,329.6A Selling, general and administrative expenses739.3A 727.4A 670.9A Restructuring and impairment
expenses17.6A 18.8A 4€”A Interest expense6.7A 12.0A 9.4A Other (income) expense, net(8.5)(6.9)425.6A Earnings before provision for income taxes701.0A 733.5A 223.7A Provision for (benefit
from) income taxes 167.4A 176.9A (12.0)Net Earnings$533.6A $556.6A $235.7A Net Earnings Per Share of Common Stock (1)$3.65A $3.71A $1.52A Diluted Net Earnings Per Share of Common
Stock (1)$3.63A $3.69A $1.51A (1)Earnings per share amounts are calculated discretely and, therefore, may not add up to the total due to rounding. CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
COMPREHENSIVE EARNINGS Years ended December 31 (dollars in millions)202420232022Net Earnings$533.6A $556.6A $235.7A Other comprehensive earnings (loss)Foreign currency
translation adjustments(24 0)3.8A (39.4)Unrealized net (loss) gain on cash flow derivative instruments, less related income tax benefit (provision) of $0.7 in 2024, $1.4 in 2023 and $(1.4) in
2022(2.2)(4.2)4.3A Change in penswn liability less related income tax benefit (provision) of $0.5 in 2024, $0.5 in 2023 and $(179.0) in 2022(1.5)(1.4)284. 1A Comprehensive

Earnings$505.9A $554.8A $484.7A See accompanying notes which are an integral part of these statements.31Table of ContentsCONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS Years ended
December 31 (dollars in millions)2024202320220perating ActivitiesNet earnings$533.6A $556.6A $235.7A Adjustments to reconcile earnings to cash provided by (used in) operating
activities:Depreciation and amortization78.8A 78.3A 76.9A Stock based compensation expense14.9A 11.5A 11.1A Deferred income taxes(4.6)(3.8)a€”A Non-cash

impairments4.7A 15.6A 4€”A Pension settlement (income) expensea€”A (0.9)417.3A Pension settlement non-cash taxesa€”A 0.2A (167.7)Net changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of
acquisitions:Current assets and liabilities(22.6)20.0A (194.1)Noncurrent assets and liabilities(23.0)(7.2)12.2A Cash Provided by Operating Activities581.8A 670.3A 391.4A Investing
ActivitiesCapital expenditures(108.0)(72.6)(70.3)Acquisitions(145.9)(16.8)(8.0)Investments in marketable securities(73.7)(63.1)(91.6)Net proceeds from sales of marketable

securities60.5A 128.4A 178.0A Cash (Used in) Provided by Investing Activities(267.1)(24.1)8.1A Financing ActivitiesLong-term debt incurred (repaid)69.7A (218.1)150.6A Common stock
repurchases(305.8)(306.5)(403.5)Net proceeds (payments) from stock option activitle.lA 23.4A (0.7)Dividends paid(190.4)(183.5)(177.2)Cash Used in Financing Activities(408.4)(684.7)
(430.8)Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents(6.6)(12.8)(20.8)Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents(100.3)(51.3)(52.1)Cash and cash equivalents-beginning of
year339.9A 391.2A 443.3A Cash and Cash Equivalents-End of Year $239.6A $339.9A $391.2A See accompanying notes, which are an integral part of these statements.32Table of
ContentsCONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDERSa€™ EQUITY Years ended December 31 (dollars in m11110ns)202420232022C1assA A Common StockBalance at the beginning of the
year$130. 1A $130.2A $130.5A Conversion of ClassA A Common Stocka€”A (0. 1)(0. 3)Balance at the end of the year$130. 1A $130 1A $130 2A Common StockBalance at the beginning of the
year$164.7A $164.7A $164.7A Conversion of ClassA A Common Stocka€”A 4€”A 4€”A Balance at the end of the year$164.7A $164.7A $164.7A Capital in Excess of Par ValueBalance at the
beginning of the year$578. 2A $555 9A $545. 2A Conversion of ClassA A Common Stock&€”A 0.1A 0.3A Issuance of share units(15.0)(10. .3)(6.0)Vesting of share units(2.5)(3.7)(3.0)Stock based
compensation expense13.1A 10.4A 11.1A Exercises of stock options11.4A 14.5A 1.3A Issuance of share based compensation16.1A 11.3A 7.0A Balance at the end of the

year$601.3A $578.2A $555.9A Retained EarningsBalance at the beginning of the year$3,258.1A $2,885.0A $2,826.6A Net earnings533.6A 556.6A 235.7A Dividends on stock(190.4)(183.5)
(177.3)Balance at the end of the year$3,601.3A $3,258.1A $2,885.0A Accumulated Other Comprehensive LossBalance at the beginning of the year$(84.2)$(82.4)$(331.4)Foreign currency
translation adjustments(24.0)348A (39.4)Unrealized net (loss) gain on cash flow derivative instruments, less related income tax benefit (provision) of $0.7 in 2024, $1.4 in 2023 and $(1.4) in
2022(2.2)(4.2)4.3A Change in pension liability less related income tax benefit (provision) of $0.5 in 2024, $0.5 in 2023 and $(179.0) in 2022(1.5)(1.4)284.1A Balance at the end of the
year$(111.9)$(84.2)$(82.4)Treasury StockBalance at the beglnmng of the year$(2,202.5)$(1,905.7)$(1,503.4)Exercise of stock options, net of 36,300, 61,605 and 47,309 shares surrendered as
proceeds and to pay taxes in 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively6.6A 8.8A (2. 1)Stock incentives and directorsa€™ compensation0. 2A 0.3A 0.3A Shares repurchased(305.8)(306.5)(403.5)Excise
tax on repurchases of common stock(3 0)(3.1)a€”A Vesting of share units2. 5A 3.7A 3.0A Balance at the end of the year$(2,502.0)$(2,202.5)$(1,905.7)Total Stockholdersa€™

Equity$1,883.5A $1,844.4A $1,747.7A See accompanying notes which are an integral part of these statements.33Table of ContentsNOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS1.
Organization and Significant Accounting PoliciesOrganization. A. O. Smith Corporation (A. O. Smith or the Company) is comprised of two reporting segments: North America and Rest of World.
The Rest of World segment is primarily comprised of China, Europe and India. Both segments manufacture and market comprehensive lines of residential and commercial gas and electric water
heaters, boilers, tanks and water treatment products. Both segments primarily manufacture and market in their respective regions of the world. Consolidation. The consolidated financial
statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries after elimination of intercompany transactions.Use of estimates. The preparation of financial statements in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (U.S.) requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the
accompanying financial statements and notes. Actual results could differ from those estimates.Fair value of financial instruments. The carrying amounts of cash, cash equivalents, marketable
securities, receivables, floating rate debt and trade payables approximated fair value as of DecemberA 31, 2024 and 2023, due to the short maturities or frequent rate resets of these
instruments. The fair value of term notes with financial institutions included in Long-term debt within the consolidated balance sheets was approximatelyA $143.6 million as of DecemberA 31,
2024 compared with the carrying amount of $163.2 million for the same date. The fair value of term notes with financial institutions was approximately $116.5 million as of DecemberA 31, 2023
compared with the carrying amount of $127.3 million.Foreign currency translation. For all subsidiaries outside the U.S., with the exception of its Barbados, Hong Kong and Mexican companies
and its non-operating companies in the Netherlands, the Company uses the local currency as the functional currency. For those operations using a functional currency other than the U.S. dollar,
assets and liabilities were translated into U.S. dollars at year-end exchange rates, and revenues and expenses were translated at weighted-average exchange rates. The resulting translation
adjustments were recorded as a separate component of stockholdersa€™ equity. The Barbados, Hong Kong, Mexican and non-operating Netherlands companies use the U.S. dollar as the
functional currency. Gains and losses from foreign currency transactions were included in net earnings and were not significant in 2024, 2023, or 2022.Cash and cash equivalents. The Company
considers all highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less when purchased to be cash equivalents.Marketable securities. The Company considers all highly liquid
investments with maturities greater than 90 days when purchased to be marketable securities. At DecemberA 31, 2024, the Companya€™s marketable securities consisted of bank time deposits
with original maturities ranging from 180 days to 12 months and were primarily located at investment grade rated banks in China and Hong Kong.Inventory valuation. Inventories are carried at
lower of cost or net realizable value. Cost is determined on the last-in, first-out (LIFO) method for a certain portion of the Companya€™s domestic inventories, which comprised 43 percent and
39 percent of the Companya€™s total inventory at DecemberA 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. The inventories of foreign subsidiaries and the remaining domestic inventories and supplies were
determined using the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method.Property, plant and equipment. Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation is computed primarily by the straight-line
method. The estimated service lives used to compute depreciation are generally 25 to 50 years for buildings, three to 20 years for equipment and three to 15 years for software. Maintenance
and repair costs are expensed as incurred.Goodwill and other intangibles. Goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets are not amortized but are reviewed for impairment on an annual basis.
Separable intangible assets, primarily comprised of customer relationships, that are not deemed to have an indefinite life are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives
which range from four to 25 years.Impairment of long-lived and amortizable intangible assets. Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets subject to amortization are reviewed for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. If the sum of the expected undiscounted cash flows is less than the carrying
value of the related asset or group of assets, a loss is recognized for the difference between the fair value and carrying value of the asset or group of assets. Such analyses involves significant
judgment.Product warranties. The Companya€™ s products carry warranties that generally range from one to twelve years and are based on terms that are consistent with the market. The
Company records a liability for the expected cost of warranty-related claims 34Table of Contentsl. Organization and Significant Accounting Policies (continued)at the time of sale and is
estimated based on the warranty period, product type and loss experience using actual historical failure rates and estimated costs of product replacement. The variables used in the calculation
of the provision are reviewed by the Company at least annually. At times, warranty issues may arise which are beyond the scope of the Companya€ ™s historical experience. The Company
provides for any such warranty issues as they become known and estimable. The allocation of the warranty liability between current and long-term is based on expected warranty claims to be
settled in the next year as determined by historical product failure rates.The following table presents the Companya€ ™s product warranty liability activity in 2024 and 2023: Years ended
December 31 (dollars in millions)20242023Balance at beginning of year$188.1A $182.5A Expense81.1A 79.9A Claims settled(78.8)(74.3)Balance at end of year$190.4A $188.1A Derivative
instruments. The Company utilizes certain derivative instruments to enhance its ability to manage currency as well as raw materials price risk. The Company does not enter into contracts for
speculative purposes. The fair values of all derivatives are recorded in the consolidated balance sheets. The change in a derivativea€™s fair value is recorded each period in current earnings or
accumulated other comprehensive loss (AOCL), depending on whether the derivative is designated as part of a hedge transaction and if so, the type of hedge transaction. See Note 14,
d€ceDerivative Instrumentsa€ for disclosure of the Companya€™s derivative instruments and hedging activities.Fair Value Measurements. Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 820 Fair
Value Measurements, defines fair value, establishes a consistent framework for measuring fair value and expands disclosure for each major asset and liability category measured at fair value on
either a recurring basis or nonrecurring basis. ASC 820 clarifies that fair value is an exit price, representing the amount that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants. As such, fair value is a market-based measurement that should be determined based on assumptions that market participants would use in
pricing an asset or liability. As a basis for considering such assumptions, ASC 820 establishes a three-tier fair value hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs used in measuring fair value as
follows: (Level 1) observable inputs such as quoted prices in active markets; (Level 2) inputs, other than the quoted prices in active markets, that are observable either directly or indirectly; and
(Level 3) unobservable inputs in which there is little or no market data, which require the reporting entity to develop its own assumptions.Assets and liabilities measured at fair value are based
on the market approach which are prices and other relevant information generated by market transactions involving identical or comparable assets or liabilities. Assets (liabilities) measured at
fair value on a recurring basis are as follows (dollars in millions): Fair Value Measurement UsingBalance Sheet LocationDecember 31, 2024December 31, 2023Quoted prices in active markets
for identical assets (LevelA 1) Marketable Securities $36.5A $23.5A Significant other observable inputs (Level 2)(Accrued liabilities) / Other current assets (1.9)(4.1)There were no changes in
the valuation techniques used to measure fair values on a recurring basis. Revenue recognition. Substantially all of the Companya€™s sales are from contracts with customers for the purchase
of its products. Contracts and customer purchase orders are used to determine the existence of a sales contract. Shipping documents are used to verify shipment. For substantially all of its
products, the Company transfers control of products to the customer at the point in time when title and risk are passed to the customer, which generally occurs upon shipment of the product.
See Note 2, a€ceRevenue Recognitiona€ for disclosure of the Companya€ ™s revenue recognition activities.A Advertising. The majority of advertising costs are charged to operations as incurred
and totaled $100.3 million, $93.9 million and $100.4 million during 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively. Included in total advertising costs are expenses associated with store displays for water
heater, water treatment products, and kitchen products in China that are amortized over 12 to 48 months which totaled $21.1 million, $15.2 million and $17.2 million during 2024, 2023 and
2022, respectively.35Table of Contents1. Organization and Significant Accounting Policies (continued)Research and development. Research and development costs are charged to operations as
incurred and amounted to $101.7 million, $97.5 million and $89.0 million during 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively.Environmental costs. The Company accrues for costs associated with
environmental obligations when such costs are probable and reasonably estimable. Costs of estimated future expenditures are not discounted to their present value. Recoveries of environmental
costs from other parties are recorded as assets when their receipt is considered probable. The accruals are adjusted as facts and circumstances change.Stock-based compensation.
Compensation cost is recognized using the straight-line method over the vesting period of the award and forfeitures are recognized as they occur. In accordance with amended ASC 718
Compensation-Stock Compensation, the Company recognized $4.1 million, $3.2 million, and $1.1 million of discrete income tax benefits on settled stock based compensation awards during
2024, 2023, and 2022 respectively.Income taxes. The provision for income taxes is computed using the asset and liability method, in accordance with ASC 740 Income Taxes, under which
deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the expected future tax consequences of temporary differences between the financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities and for
operating losses and tax credit carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using the currently enacted tax rates that apply to taxable income in effect for the years in which
those tax assets are expected to be realized or settled and are classified as noncurrent in the consolidated balance sheet. The Company records a valuation allowance to reduce deferred tax
assets to the amount that is believed more likely than not to be realized.The Company recognizes the tax benefit from an uncertain tax position only if it is more likely than not the tax position
will be sustained on examination by the taxing authorities, based on the technical merits of the position. The tax benefits recognized in the financial statements from such positions are then
measured based on the largest benefit that has a greater than 50 percent likelihood of being realized upon settlement. Earnings per share of common stock. The Company is not required to use
the two-class method of calculating earnings per share since its ClassA A Common Stock and Common Stock have equal dividend rights. The numerator for the calculation of basic and diluted
earnings per share is net earnings. The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted weighted-average shares used in the earnings per share
calculations:202420232022Denominator for basic earnings per share - weighted-average shares outstandingl45,997,584A 149,952,679A 154,786,327A Effect of dilutive stock options, restricted
stock and share units1,086,496A 1,062,895A 993,037A Denominator for diluted earnings per share147,084,080A 151,015,574A 155,779,364A Recent Accounting Pronouncementsin November
2024, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Accounting Standards Update (ASU) 2024-03 &€celncome Statement - Reporting Comprehensive Income (Topic 220):
Disaggregation of Income Statement Expenses.a€ The ASU requires additional disclosures by disaggregating the costs and expense line items that are presented on the face of the income
statement. The ASU is effective for the Company beginning with its 2027 annual disclosures and subsequent interim periods. Early adoption is permitted. This ASU requires a public company to
apply the amendments either prospectively to financial statements issued for reporting periods after the effective date of this ASU or retrospectively to any or all prior periods presented in the
financial statements. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of adopting this ASU on its disclosures.In December 2023, the FASB amended ASC 740 (issued under ASU 2023-09,
a€meImprovements to Income Tax Disclosuresa€). This ASU requires added disclosures related to the tax rate reconciliation and income taxes paid and includes other amendments intended to
improve effectiveness and comparability. The amendment is effective for the Company beginning with its 2025 annual disclosures with early adoption permitted and should be applied on a
prospective basis. The Company is currently evaluating the impact the adoption of ASU 2023-09 will have on its annual disclosures.In November 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-07,
4€eSegment Reporting (Topic 280) - Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures.&€ The update is intended to improve reportable segment disclosure requirements, primarily through
enhanced disclosures about significant expenses. The ASU requires disclosures to include significant segment expenses that are regularly provided to the chief operating decision maker
(CODM), a description of other segment items by reportable segment, and any additional measures of a segment's profit or loss used by the CODM when deciding how to allocate resources. The



ASU also requires all annual disclosures currently required by Topic 280 to be included in interim periods. The update is effective for the Company beginning with its 2024 annual disclosures
and interim periods beginning in 2025, 36Table of Contents1. Organization and Significant Accounting Policies (continued)with early adoption permitted and requires retrospective application
to all prior periods presented in the financial statements. The adoption of ASU 2023-07 did not affect the Companya€™s financial position or its results of operations. Refer to Note 17,
Operations by Segment, for additional disclosures. 2. Revenue Recognition Substantially all of the Companya€™s sales are from contracts with customers for the purchase of its products.
Contracts and customer purchase orders are used to determine the existence of a sales contract. Shipping documents are used to verify shipment. For substantially all of its products, the
Company transfers control of products to the customer at the point in time when title and risk are passed to the customer, which generally occurs upon shipment of the product. Each unit sold
is considered an independent, unbundled performance obligation. The Companya€™s sales arrangements do not include other performance obligations that are material in the context of the
contract.A The nature, timing and amount of revenue for a respective performance obligation are consistent for each customer. The Company measures the sales transaction price based upon
the payment terms associated with the transaction and whether the sales price is subject to refund or adjustment. Sales and value added taxes are excluded from the measurement of the
transaction price. The Companya€™ s payment terms for the majority of its customers are 30 to 90 days from shipment. Additionally, certain customers in China pay the Company prior to the
shipment of products resulting in a customer deposits liability of $54.4 million and $59.7 million at DecemberA 31, 2024 and DecemberA 31, 2023, respectively. Customer deposit liabilities are
short term in nature, recognized into revenue within one year of receipt. The Company assesses the collectability of customer receivables based on the creditworthiness of a customer as
determined by credit checks and analysis, as well as the customera€™s payment history. In determining the allowance for credit losses, the Company also considers various factors including the
aging of customer accounts and historical write-offs. In addition, the Company monitors other risk factors including forward-looking information when establishing adequate allowances for
credit losses, which reflects the current estimate of credit losses expected to be incurred over the life of the receivables. The Companya€™s allowance for credit losses was $12.9 million and
$10.1 million at DecemberA 31, 2024 and DecemberA 31, 2023, respectively.Rebates and incentives are based on pricing agreements and are tied to sales volume. The amount of revenue is
reduced for variable consideration related to customer rebates which are calculated using expected values and are based on program specific factors such as expected rebate percentages based
on expected volumes.A In situations where the customer has the right to return eligible products, the Company reduces revenue for its estimates of expected product returns, which are
primarily based on an analysis of historical experience. Changes in such accruals may be required if actual sales volume differs from estimated sales volume or if future returns differ from
historical experience. Shipping and handling costs billed to customers are included in netA sales and the related costs are included in cost of products sold and are activities performed to fulfill
the promise to transfer products.Disaggregation of Net SalesThe Company is comprised of two reporting segments: North America and Rest of World. The Rest of World segment is primarily
comprised of China, Europe and India. Both segments manufacture and market comprehensive lines of residential and commercial gas, heat pump and electric water heaters, boilers, tanks and
water treatment products. Both segments primarily manufacture and market in their respective regions of the world. As each segment manufactures and markets products in its respective
region of the world, the Company has determined that geography is the primary factor in reporting its sales. The Company further disaggregates its North America segment sales by major
product line as each of North Americad€™ s major product lines is sold through distinct distribution channels and these product lines may be impacted differently by certain economic factors.
Within the Rest of World segment, particularly in China and India, the Company&a€™s major customers purchase across the Companya€™s product lines, utilizing the same distribution channels
regardless of product type. In addition, the impact of economic factors is unlikely to be differentiated by product line in the Rest of World segment. The North America segment's major product
lines are defined as the following: Water heaters The Companya€™s water heaters are open water heating systems that heat potable water. Typical applications for water heaters include
residences, restaurants, hotels, office buildings, laundries, car washes and small businesses. The Company sells residential and commercial water heater products and related parts through its
wholesale distribution channel, which includes approximately 900 independent wholesale plumbing distributors. The Company also sells residential water heaters and related parts through
retail and maintenance, repair and operations (MRO) channels. A significant portion of the Companya€™ s water heater sales in the North America segment is derived from the replacement of
existing products.37Table of Contents2. Revenue Recognition (continued)Boilers The Companya€™s boilers are closed loop water heating systems used primarily for space heating or hydronic
heating. The Companya€™s boilers are primarily used in applications in commercial settings for hospitals, schools, hotels and other large commercial buildings while residential boilers are used
in homes, apartments and condominiums. The Companya€™s boiler distribution channel is comprised primarily of manufacturer representative firms, with the remainder of its boilers
distributed through wholesale channels. The Companya€™s boiler sales in the North America segment are derived from a combination of replacement of existing products and new
construction.Water treatment products The Companya€™s water treatment products range from point-of-entry water softeners, solutions for problem well water, and whole-home water
filtration products to on-the-go filtration bottles, point-of-use carbon, and reverse osmosis products. Typical applications for the Companya€™ s water treatment products include residences,
restaurants, hotels and offices. The Company sells water treatment products through its retail and wholesale distribution channels, similar to water heaters. The Companya€™s water treatment
products are also sold through independent water quality dealers as well as directly to consumers including through e-commerce sales channels. A portion of the Companya€™s sales of water
treatment products in the North America segment is comprised of replacement filters.The following table disaggregates the Companya€™s net sales by segment. As described above, the
Companya€™s North America segment sales are further disaggregated by major product line. In addition, the Companya€™s Rest of World segment sales are disaggregated by China and all
other Rest of World. Years ended December 31 (dollars in millions)202420232022North AmericaWater heaters and related parts$2,441.7A $2,456.9A $2,325.1A Boilers and related
parts260.0A 240.1A 272.0A Water treatment products248.4A 225.9A 222.0A Total North America2,950.1A 2,922.9A 2,819.1A Rest of WorldChina$791.9A $835.1A $839.1A All other Rest of
World126.7A 121.8A 126.7A Total Rest of World918.6A 956.9A 965.8A Inter-segment sales(50.6)(27.0)(31.0)Total Net Sales$3,818.1A $3,852.8A $3,753.9A 3. Acquisitions2024 Acquisitions
During the fourth quarter of 2024, the Company acquired Pureit, a residential water purification business in South Asia, from Unilever for an aggregate purchase price of $124.6A million. The
purchase price consists of an initial cash payment of $117.9A million upon the closing of the transaction and a separate payment of $6.7A million made under a transitional supply agreement
with Unilever. Due to the close proximity of the acquisition date and the Company's filing of its annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2024, the initial accounting for the
business combination is incomplete and is pending identification and measurement of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed. Therefore, the Company is unable to disclose the information
required by ASC 805, Business Combinations. Such information will be included in the Company's subsequent Form 10-Q. At December 31, 2024, the purchase price allocated to Goodwill was
$117.9A million and the payment of $6.7 million was included in Other current assets within the Companya€™s consolidated financial statements. The acquired company is included in the Rest
of World segment.During the first quarter of 2024, the Company acquired a privately-held water treatment company. The Company paid an aggregate cash purchase price of $21.3A million, net
of cash acquired. The Company also agreed to make contingent payments based on the amount by which sales of products increase over the next three years. The addition of the acquired
company expanded the Company's water treatment footprint in North America. The acquired company is included in the North America segment.38Table of Contents3. Acquisitions
(continued)2023 AcquisitionsDuring the third quarter of 2023, the Company acquired a privately-held water treatment company. The Company paid an aggregate cash purchase price of
$16.8A million, net of cash acquired. The addition of the acquired company expands the Company's water treatment platform. The acquired company is included in the North America
segment.2022 AcquisitionsDuring the second quarter of 2022, the Company acquired a privately-held water treatment company. The Company paid an aggregate cash purchase price of

$5.5A million, net of cash acquired. The addition of the company acquired expands the Company's water treatment platform and is included in the North America segment for reporting
purposes. In addition, in the third quarter of 2022, the Company incurred $4.3A million of expenses and related income tax benefit of $1.1A million associated with a terminated acquisition.
These expenses were related to the due diligence of a prospective acquisition target and recorded within selling, general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statement of
earnings.As required under ASC 805, results of operations have been included in the Companya€™s consolidated financial statements from the date of acquisition.4. LeasesThe Companya€™s
lease portfolio consists of operating leases for buildings and equipment, such as forklifts and copiers, primarily in the United States and China. The Company defines a lease as a contract that
gives the Company the right to control the use of a physical asset for a stated term. The Company pays the lessor for that right, with a series of payments defined in the contract and a
corresponding right of use operating lease asset and liability are recorded. The Company has elected not to record leases with an initial term of 12 months or less on its consolidated balance
sheet. To determine balance sheet amounts, required legal payments are discounted using the Companya€™s incremental borrowing rate as of the inception of the lease. The incremental
borrowing rate is the rate of interest that the Company would incur if it were to borrow, on a collateralized basis, an amount equal to the value of the leased item over a similar term, in a similar
economic environment. Variable lease components not based on an index or rate are excluded from the measurement of the lease asset and liability and expensed as incurred for all asset
classes. Certain leases include one or more options to renew or terminate. Renewal terms can extend the lease term from one to five years and options to terminate can be effective within one
year. The exercise of lease renewal or termination is at the Companya€ ™s discretion and when it is determined to be reasonably certain to renew or terminate, the option is reflected in the
measurement of lease asset and liability. The Companya€™s lease agreements do not contain any arrangements related to material residual value guarantees, restrictive covenants or material
subleases. Cash flows associated with leases are materially consistent with the expense recorded in the consolidated statement of earnings. Supplemental balance sheet information related to
leases is as follows: (dollars in millions)December 31, 2024December 31, 2023LiabilitiesShort term: Accrued liabilities$11.3A $11.6A Long term: Operating lease liabilities23.5A 27.9A Total
operating lease liabilities$34.8A $39.5A Less: Rent incentives and deferrals(2.0)(2.2)AssetsOperating lease assets$32.8A $37.3A Lease Term and Discount RateDecember 31, 2024Weighted-
average remaining lease term7.0 yearsWeighted-average discount rate4.63%39Table of Contents4. Leases (continued)The components of lease expense were as follows: (dollars in
millions)Lease Expense(1)ClassificationYear ended December 31, 2024Year ended December 31, 20230perating lease expenseCost of products sold$7.0A $5.3A Selling, general and
administrative expense515.9A 16.2A (1)Includes short-term lease expense of $1.7 million and variable lease expenses of $6.0 million for the year ended DecemberA 31, 2024 and short-term
lease expense of $1.8 million and variable lease expenses of $4.6 million for the year ended DecemberA 31, 2023, respectively.Maturities of lease liabilities were as follows:(dollars in
millions)December 31, 20242025$12.4A 20267.6A 20274.8A 20283.1A 20292.1A After 202910.7A Total lease payments40.7A Less: Imputed interest(5.9)Present value of operating lease
liabilities$34.8A 5. Restructuring and Impairment Expenses2024 Restructuring and Impairment ExpensesThe Company recognized $17. 6A million of restructuring and impairment expenses
during the year ended DecemberA 31, 2024. These expenses were comprised of $12.1A million in severance costs, $0.8A million of other restructuring expenses, and asset impairments of
$4.7A million, as well as a corresponding $3.2A million tax benefit.Of the $17.6A million expense recognized during the year ended DecemberA 31, 2024, $6.3A million was related to the
Companya€™s water treatment business in the North America segment and was a result of a profitability improvement strategy that prioritizes improving its cost structure. In the Rest of World
segment, severance costs in China of $11.3A million was related to the right sizing of that business for current market conditions. 2023 Restructuring and Impairment ExpensesIn 2023, the
Company determined that its business in Turkey (disposal group) included in the Rest of World segment met the criteria to be classified as held for sale. The Company determined the fair value
of the disposal group, less cost to sell, was lower than its carrying amount. As a result the Company recorded an impairment expense of $15.6A million, of which $12.5A million was recorded in
the Rest of World segment, and $3.1A million was recorded in Corporate Expense. The impairment was recorded as a net reduction of $4.5A million to the assets and liabilities and

$11.1A million for the anticipated liquidation of the cumulative foreign currency translation adjustment associated with the disposal group. The remaining carrying value of the disposal group
was $0.6A million and classified as held for sale. During 2023, the Company sold the disposal group for an amount that approximated the carrying value of the net assets. Upon closing of the
sale in the second quarter of 2023, the Company released $11.0A million of foreign currency translation losses from accumulated other comprehensive loss.In 2023, the Company recorded
$3.2A million of restructuring expense related to the exit of a business within the Far East region.40Table of Contents5. Restructuring and Impairment Expenses (continued)The following table
presents an analysis of the Companya€™s restructuring reserve for the years ended DecemberA 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022: (dollars in millions)Severance CostsOther Restructuring
ExpensesNon-cashImpairmentsTotalBalance at December 31, 2022&€”A a€”A 4€”A 4€”A Charges0.3A 2.9A 15.6A 18.8A Non-cash and other adjustmentsa€”A 4€”A (15.6)(15.6)Balance at
December 31, 20230.3A 2.9A 4€”A 3.2A Charges12.1A 0.8A 4.7A 17.6A Cash payments(3.5)(2.2)a€”A (5.7)Non-cash and other adjustmentsa€”A a€”A (4.7)(4.7)Balance at December 31,
20248.9A 1.5A 4€”A 10.4A 6. Statement of Cash FlowsSupplemental cash flow information is as follows: Years ended December 31 (dollars in millions)202420232022Net change in current
assets and liabilities, net of acquisitions:Receivables$49.0A $(16.4)$42.5A Inventories(40.5)18.1A (82.8)Other current assets7.1A 7.2A (9.1)Trade payables(5.9)(21.4)(89.4)Accrued liabilities,
including payroll and benefits(32.9)28.4A (46.5)Income taxes0.6A 4.1A (8.8)$(22.6)$20.0A $(194.1)In addition, cash interest paid during the years ended DecemberA 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022
was $6.7 million, $12.3 million, and $9.3 million, respectively. Total cash and cash equivalents and marketable securities at DecemberA 31, 2024 and 2023 was $276.1 million and $363.4
million, respectively, of which $205.7 million and $291.8 million were held by the Companya€™s foreign subsidiaries, at DecemberA 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.7. InventoriesThe following
table presents the components of the Companya€™s inventory balances:December 31 (dollars in millions)20242023Finished products$196.1A $177.7A Work in process42.4A 44.2A Raw
materials343.0A 322.6A Inventories, at FIFO cost581.5A 544.5A LIFO reserve(49.4)(47.1)Inventories, at LIFO cost$532.1A $497.4A 41Table of Contents8. Property, Plant and
EquipmentDecember 31 (dollars in millions)20242023Land$30.0A $31.0A Buildings408.5A 378.6A Equipment911.8A 865.9A Software145.6A 143.1A 1,495.9A 1,418.6A Accumulated
depreciation and amortization(867.2)(821.1)Net property, plant, and equipment$628. 7A $597.5A 9. Goodwill and Other Intangible AssetsChanges in the carrying amount of goodwill during the
years ended DecemberA 31, 2024 and 2023 consisted of the followmg (dollars in millions)NorthA AmericaRestA ofA WorldTotalBalance at December 31, 2022$561.1A $58.6A $619.7A Currency
translation adjustment2. 6A (0.1)2.5A Acquisitions11. 2A a€”A 11.2A Balance at December 31, 2023574.9A 58.5A 633.4A Currency translation adjustment(8.7)(1.4)

(10.1)Acquisitions20.5A 117.9A 138.4A Balance at December 31, 2024$586.7A $175.0A $761.7A The carrying amount of other intangible assets consisted of the following: 20242023December
31 (dollars in millions)Gross Carrying AmountAccumulated AmortizationNetGross Carrying AmountAccumulated AmortizationNetAmortizable intangible

assets:Patents$3.7A $(3.7)$4€”A $3.7A $(3.7)$4€”A Customer lists287.5A (187.3)100.2A 286.4A (174.0)112.4A Total amortizable intangible

assets291.2A (191.0)100.2A 290.1A (177.7)112.4A Indefinite-lived intangible assets:Trade names220.9A a€”A 220.9A 224.3A a€”A 224.3A Total intangible

assets$512.1A $(191.0)$321.1A $514.4A $(177.7)$336.7A Amortization expenses of other intangible assets of $12.7 million, $12.6 million, and $12.8 million were recorded in 2024, 2023 and
2022, respectively. In the future, excluding the impact of any future acquisitions, the Company expects amortization expense of approximately $12.7 million annually and the intangible assets
will be amortized over a weighted-average period of 10 years. The Company concluded that no goodwill impairment existed at the time of the annual impairment tests which were performed in
the fourth quarters of 2024, 2023 and 2022. No impairments of other intangible assets were recorded in 2024, 2023 and 2022.42Table of Contents10. DebtDecember 31 (dollars in
millions)20242023Revolving credit agreement borrowings, average year-end interest rates of 5.3% for 202430.0A 4€”A Fixed rate agreements, expiring 2027-2034, average year-end interest
rates of 4.6% for 2024 and 3.1% for 2023163.2A 127.3A 193.2A 127.3A Long-term debt due within one year(10.0)(10.0)Long-term debt$183.2A $117.3A In 2024, the Company renewed and
amended its $500 million multi-year multi-currency revolving credit agreement with a new expiration date of AugustA 23, 2029. The facility has an accordion provision which allows it to be
increased up to $1 billion if certain conditions (including lender approval) are satisfied. Borrowings under the Companya€™s bank credit lines and commercial paper borrowings are supported
by the $500A million revolving credit agreement. As a result of the long-term nature of this facility, the Companya€™s credit line borrowings are classified as long-term debt at DecemberA 31,
2024. At its option, the Company either maintains cash balances or pays fees for bank credit and services. The Company has fixed-rate interest expense obligations of $23.9 million on
outstanding debt as of DecemberA 31, 2024. Scheduled maturities of long-term debt within each of the five years subsequent to DecemberA 31, 2024 are as follows:Years ending December 31
(dollars in millions)Amount2025$10.0A 202639.7A 202739.7A 202825.5A 202955.5A 11. Stockholdersa€™ Equity The Companya€™s authorized capital consists of three million shares of
Preferred Stock $1 par value, 27A million shares of ClassA A Common Stock $5 par value, and 240 million shares of Common Stock $1 par value. The Common Stock has equal dividend rights



with ClassA A Common Stock and is entitled, as a class, to elect one-third of the Board of Directors and has 1/10th vote per share on all other matters. ClassA A Common Stock is convertible to
Common Stock on a one for one basis.There were 8,307 shares during 2024, 12,524 shares during 2023 and 68,785 shares during 2022, of ClassA A Common Stock converted into Common
Stock. Regular dividends paid on the A.A O.A SmithA Corporation ClassA A Common Stock and Common Stock amounted to $1.30, $1.22 and $1.14 per share in 2024, 2023 and 2022,
respectively. In 2024, the Board of Directors approved adding 2,000,000 shares of Common Stock to an existing discretionary share repurchase authority. Under the share repurchase program,
the Common Stock may be purchased through a combination of Rule 10b5-1 automatic trading plan and discretionary purchases in accordance with applicable securities laws. The number of
shares purchased and the timing of the purchases will depend on a number of factors, including share price, trading volume and general market conditions, as well as working capital
requirements, general business conditions and other factors, including alternative investment opportunities. The stock repurchase authorization remains effective until terminated by the
Company's Board of Directors which may occur at any time, subject to the parameters of any Rule 10b5-1 automatic trading plan that we may then have in effect. In 2024, the Company
repurchased 3,755,337 shares at an average price of $81.43 per share and at a total cost of $305.8A million. As of DecemberA 31, 2024, there were 1,746,125 shares remaining on the existing
repurchase authorization. In 2023, the Company repurchased 4,377,000 shares at a cost of $306.5 million. In 2022, the Company repurchased 6,647,895 shares at a cost of $403.5 million.At
DecemberA 31, 2024, a total of 130,380 and 46,257,599 shares of ClassA A Common Stock and Common Stock, respectively, were held as treasury stock. At DecemberA 31, 2023, a total of
130,380 and 43,049,885 shares of ClassA A Common Stock and Common Stock, respectively, were held as treasury stock.43Table of Contents11. Stockholdersa€™ Equity (continued)Changes to
accumulated other comprehensive loss by component are as follows:(dollars in millions)Years ended December 31,20242023Cumulative foreign currency translationBalance at beginning of
period$(80.3)$(84.1)Other comprehensive (loss) gain before reclassifications(24.0)3.8A Balance at end of period(104.3)(80.3)Unrealized net gain (loss) on cash flow derivativesBalance at
beginning of period0.7A 4.9A Other comprehensive (loss) gain before reclassifications(0.5)2.8A Realized gains on derivatives reclassified to cost of products sold (net of tax provision of $0.5 and
$2.2 in 2023, respectively)(1)(1.7)(7.0)Balance at end of period(145)0.7A Pension liabilityBalance at beginning of period(4.6)(3.2)Other comprehensive loss before reclassifications(1.8)
(1.6)Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive loss(1)0.3A 0.2A Balance at end of period(6.1)(4.6)Total accumulated other comprehensive loss, end of period$(111.9)$(84.2)
(1)Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive loss:Realized gains on derivatives reclassified to cost of products sold$(2.2)$(9. 2)Tax provision0. 5A 2.2A Reclassification net of
tax$(1.7)$(7. 0)Amortization of pension items:Actuarial losses$0. 3A (2)$0.1A (2)Prior year service cost0. 1A (2)0.1A (2)0.4A 0.2A Tax benefit(0.1)a€”A Reclassification net of

tax$0.3A $0.2A (2)These accumulated other comprehensive loss components are included in the computation of net periodic benefit cost. See Note 13, a€cePensions and Other Post-retirement
Benefitsa€ for additional details.Included in the results for 2023 is $11.0 million of foreign currency translation losses reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive loss to Net earnings
related to the Company's sale of its business in Turkey. See Note 5 - Restructuring and Impairment Expenses for additional details. 12. Stock Based Compensation The Company adopted the A.
0. Smith Combined Incentive Compensation Plan (the Incentive Plan) effective JanuaryA 1, 2007, and the Incentive Plan was most recently reapproved by stockholders on AprilA 15, 2020. The
Incentive Plan is a continuation of the A. O. Smith Combined Executive Incentive Compensation Plan which was originally approved by stockholders in 2002. The number of shares available for
granting of options or share units at DecemberA 31, 2024, was 2,291,099 which includes 2,400,000 additional shares that were authorized on April 15, 2020 at the Company's annual meeting of
stockholders. Upon stock option exercise or share unit vesting, shares are issued from treasury stock. Total stock based compensation expense recognized in 2024, 2023 and 2022 was $14.9
million, $11.5 million and $11.1 million, respectively. 44Table of Contents12. Stock Based Compensation (continued)Stock Options Beginning in 2023, the Company no longer grants stock
options. The stock options previously granted in 2022 have three year pro rata vesting from the date of grant. Stock options were issued at exercise prices equal to the fair value of the
Companyéa€™s Common Stock on the date of grant. For active employees, all options granted in 2022 expire ten years after the date of grant. The Companya€™s stock options are expensed
ratably over the three year vesting period; however, included in the stock option expense recognized in 2022 is expense associated with the accelerated vesting of stock option awards for
certain employees who either are retirement eligible or become retirement eligible during the vesting period. Stock based compensation expense attributable to stock options for 2024, 2023
and 2022 was $0.6 million, $1.2 million and $5.5 million, respectively.Changes in options, all of which relate to the Companya€™s Common Stock, were as follows: Years Ended December
31202420232022Number of OptionsWeighted Avg. Per Share Exercise PriceNumber of OptionsWeighted Avg. Per Share Exercise PriceNumber of OptionsWeighted Avg. Per Share Exercise
PriceNumber of shares under options:Outstanding at beginning of

year1,872,553A $52.93A 2,481,606A $51.22A 2,252,498A $47.73A Granteda€”A a€”A a€”A a€”A 322,460A 74.11A Exercised(1)

(473,452)46.46A (600,344)45.68A (66,697)39.77A Forfeited(3,260)74.27A (8,709)66.96A (26,655)61.46A Outstanding at end of

year(2)1,395,841A 55.07A 1,872,553A 52.93A 2,481,606A 51.22A Exercisable at end of year(3)1,295,061A 53.59A 1,549,749A 49.51A 1,675,552A 46.88A (1)The total intrinsic value of options
exercised in 2024, 2023 and 2022 was $18.0 million, $15.0 million and $1.6 million, respectively.(2)The weighted average remaining contractual life of options outstanding was 6 years at
DecemberA 31, 2024, and 7 years at DecemberA 31, 2023 and DecemberA 31, 2022, respectively. The aggregate intrinsic value of options outstanding at DecemberA 31, 2024 was $20.0 million.
(3)The weighted average remaining contractual life of options exercisable was 6 years at DecemberA 31, 2024, DecemberA 31, 2023, and DecemberA 31, 2022, respectively. The aggregate
intrinsic value of options exercisable at DecemberA 31, 2024 was $20.0 million.Number of OptionsWeighted Avg. Per Share Exercise PriceNonvested options at beginning of

year322,804A $69.33A Vested(219,931)67.09A Forfeited(2,093)74.27A Nonvested options at end of year100,780A 74.10A 45Table of Contents12. Stock Based Compensation (continued)The
weighted-average fair value per option at the date of grant during 2022, using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model, was $17.57. Assumptions were as follows: 2022Expected life
(years)5.7Risk-free interest rate1.9A %Dividend yield1.5A %Expected volatility26.8A %The expected lives of options for purposes of these models are based on historical exercise behavior. The
risk-free interest rates for purposes of these models are based on the U.S. Treasury yield in effect on the date of grant for the respective expected lives of the option. The expected dividend
yields for purposes of these models are based on the dividends paid in the preceding four quarters divided by the grant date market value of the Common Stock. The expected volatility for
purposes of these models is based on the historical volatility of the Common Stock. Share Units Participants in the Incentive Plan may also be awarded share units. Share units vest three years
after the date of grant. The Company granted 195,497, 168,807 and 94,731 share units under the Incentive Plan in 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively. The share units were valued at $16.1
million, $11.3 million and $7.0 million at the date of issuance in 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively, based on the price of the Companya€™s Common Stock at the date of grant. The share units
are recognized as compensation expense ratably over the three-year vesting period; however, included in share unit expense was expense associated with accelerated vesting of share unit
awards for certain employees who are retirement eligible or will become retirement eligible during the vesting period. Stock based compensation expense attributable to share units of $12.5
million, $9.6 million and $5.6 million was recognized in 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively. Certain non-U.S.-based employees receive the cash value of the share price at the vesting date in lieu
of shares. Unvested cash-settled awards are remeasured at each reporting period.A summary of share unit activity under the Incentive Plan is as follows: Number of UnitsWeighted-Average
Grant Date Value Issued and unvested at January 1, 2024381,189A $63.33A Granted195,497A 82.31A Vested(98,216)60.32A Forfeited(9,201)73.49A Issued and unvested at December 31,
2024469,269A 71.50A Performance Stock UnitsBeginning in 2023, certain executives may be awarded performance stock units under the Incentive Plan. Performance stock units vest over
three years following the date of the grant. Performance stock units vest under a set of measurement criteria which are based upon achievement of certain sustainability targets. Potential
payouts range from zero to 150 percent of the target awards and changes from target amounts are reflected as performance adjustments. The Company granted 29,475 and 24,580 performance
stock units under the Incentive Plan in 2024 and 2023, respectively.The performance stock units were valued at $2.4 million and $1.7 million at the date of issuance in 2024 and 2023,
respectively, based on the price of the Companya€™s Common Stock at the date of grant. The performance stock units are recognized as compensation expense ratably over the three-year
vesting period. Stock based compensation expense attributable to performance stock units of $1.8 million and $0.7 million was recognized in 2024 and 2023, respectively. Certain non-U.S.-
based executives receive the cash value of the share price at the vesting date in lieu of shares. Unvested cash-settled awards are remeasured at each reporting period.46Table of Contents12.
Stock Based Compensation (continued)A summary of stock unit activity under the Incentive Plan is as follows:Number of UnitsWeighted-AverageGrant Date Valuelssued and unvested at
JanuaryA 1, 202434,758A $67.14A Granted29,475A 82.19A Forfeited(6,124)75.48A Performance adjustments16,289A 80.76A Issued and unvested at December 31, 202474,398A 75.40A 13.
Pension and Other Post-retirement Benefits The Company provides retirement benefits for all U.S. employees including benefits for employees of previously owned businesses which were
earned up to the date of sale. The Company also has two foreign pension plans, neither of which is material to the Companya€™s financial position. The Company has a defined contribution plan
which matches 100 percent of the first one percent of contributions made by participating employees and matches 50 percent of the next five percent of employee contributions. In addition, the
Company has defined contribution plans for certain hourly employees which provide for matching Company contributions. The Company had a defined benefit plan for salaried employees and
its non-union hourly workforce. In 2009, the Company announced U.S. employees hired after JanuaryA 1, 2010, would not participate in the defined benefit plan, and benefit accruals for the
majority of current salaried and hourly employees sunset on DecemberA 31, 2014. An additional Company contribution is made to the defined contribution plan in lieu of benefits earned in a
defined benefit plan. The Company also has defined benefit and contribution plans for certain union hourly employees.In 2021, the Company's Board of Directors approved the termination of the
defined benefit pension plan (the Plan) with a termination date of December 31, 2021. The Plan represented over 95 percent of the Company's pension plan liability. In 2022, the Company
received a determination letter from the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) that allowed the Company to proceed with the termination process. The Company settled approximately $169A million of
Plan liabilities through lump-sum payments from existing plan assets to eligible participants who elected to receive them and settled approximately $463A million of Plan liabilities by entering
into an agreement to purchase annuities from Mass Mutual Life Insurance Company (MML). The irrevocable agreement with MML covers approximately 7,000 active and former employees and
their beneficiaries, with MML assuming the future annuity payments for these individuals commencing March 1, 2023. These settlements resulted in $417.3A million of pretax expense in 2022,
partially offset by approximately $167.7A million in related tax benefits. In 2023, the Company realized pre-tax pension settlement income of $0.9A million, of which $0.7A million was recorded
in the North America segment and $0.2A million in Corporate Expense, and included $0.2A million in related tax benefits. The pension settlement income related to refunds from MML to the
Plan for the reconciliation of participant data and was partially offset by settlement accounting adjustments. The remaining pension assets associated with the Plan at December 31, 2024 were
$15.6A million. The Company intends to use the remaining assets to fund future non-elective contributions to the Companya€™s defined contribution plan.The Company has unfunded defined-
benefit post-retirement plans covering certain hourly and salaried employees that provide medical and life insurance benefits from retirement to age 65. Certain hourly employees retiring after
JanuaryA 1, 1996, are subject to a maximum annual benefit and salaried employees hired after DecemberA 31, 1993, are not eligible for post-retirement medical benefits. Obligations and
Funded Status Pension and Post-retirement Disclosure InformationThe following tables present the changes in benefit obligations, plan assets and funded status for domestic pension and post-
retirement plans and the components of net periodic benefit costs. 47Table of Contents13. Pension and Other Post-retirement Benefits (continued)Pension BenefitsPost-

retirementA BenefitsYears ended December 31 (dollars in mllhons)2024202320242023Accumulated benefit obligation (ABO) at December 31$(27.3)$(26. 3)N/AN/AChange in projected benefit
obligations (PBO)PBO at beginning of years$(26. 7)$(28 3)$(1 7)$(1.7)Service cost(1.1)(0. 9)a€”A 4€”A Interest cost(1.4)(1.2)(0.1)(0. 1)Participant contributionsa€”A 4€”A (0.1)(0.1)Actuarial gain
(loss) including assumption changes0. 7A (1. 1)0. 1A a€”A Benefits paid0.8A 4.8A 0.2A 0.2A PBO at end of year$(27.7)$(26.7)$(1. 6)$(1.7)Change in fair value of plan assetsPlan assets at
beginning of year$20.3A $45.2A $a€”A $4€”A Actual return on plan assets(1.4)0.6A &€”A 4€”A Contribution by the Company0.5A 0.5A 0.1A 0.1A Participant

contributionsa€”A 4€”A 0.1A 0.1A Benefits paid(0.8)(4.8)(0.2)(0.2)Transfer related to plan terminationa€”A (21.2)a€”A 4€”A Plan assets at end of year$18.6A $20.3A $a€”A $a€”A Funded
status$(9.1)$(6.4)$(1.6)$(1.7)Amount recognized in the balance sheetNoncurrent assets$2.2A $4.4A $4€”A $4€”A Current liabilities(0.5)(0.5)(0.2)(0.2)Non-current liabilities(10.8)(10.3)(1.4)
(1.5)Net pension liability at end of year$(9.1)*$(6.4)*$(1.6)$(1.7)Amounts recognized in accumulated other comprehensive loss before taxNet actuarial loss$8.3A $6.7A $0.2A $0.3A Prior
service cost1.8A 1.9A (1.3)(1.8)Total recognized in accumulated other comprehensive loss$10.1A $8.6A $(1.1)$(1.5)*In addition, the Company has a liability for a foreign pension plan of $0.3
million at DecemberA 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.The actuarial loss in the current year for the pension plan was primarily due to the change in the discount rate.48Table of Contents13.
Pension and Other Post-retirement Benefits (continued)Pension BenefitsPost-retirement BenefitsYears ended December 31 (dollars in millions)202420232022202420232022Net periodic cost
(benefit)Service cost$1.1A $0.9A $1.4A $a€”A $a€”A $a€”A Interest cost1.4A 1.2A 14.5A 0.1A 0.1A 0.1A Expected return on plan assets(1.2)(1.0)(21.5)a€”A a€”A 4€”A Amortization of
unrecognized:Net actuarial loss 0.3A 0.1A 19.9A a€”A 4€”A &€”A Prior service cost0.1A 0.1A (0.4)(0.5)(0.5)(0.5)Defined-benefit plan expense (income)1.7A 1.3A 13.9A (0.4)(0.4)$(0.4)Pension
settlement (income) expensea€”A (0.9)417.3A a€”A a€”A a€”A Various U.S. defined contribution plans cost17.9A 16.5A 15.3A 4€”A a€”A a€”A $19.6A $16.9A $446.5A $(0.4)$(0.4)$(0.4)Other
changes in plan assets and projected benefit obligation recognized in other comprehensive lossNet actuarial loss (gain)$1.9A $1.5A $(27.0)$(0.1)$a€”A $0.2A Amortization of net actuarial
10ss(0.3)(0.1)(19.9)a€”A 4€”A 4€”A Settlement lossa€”A 4€”A (417.3)a€”A 4€”A 4€”A Amortization of prior service cost(0.1)(0.1)0.4A 0.5A 0.5A 0.5A Total recognized in other comprehensive
loss1.5A 1.3A (463.8)0.4A 0.5A 0.7A Total recognized in net periodic cost (benefit) and other comprehensive loss$3.2A $1.7A $(32.6)$a€”A $0.1A $0.3A The 2024 and 2023 after tax adjustments
for additional minimum pension liability resulted in other comprehensive (loss) of $(1.5) million and $(1.4) million, respectively. Actuarial assumptions used to determine benefit obligations at
DecemberA 31 are as follows: PensionA BenefitsPost-retirement Benefits2024202320242023Discount rate5.57A %4.96A %5.49A %4.89A %Actuarial assumptions used to determine net periodic
benefit cost for the year ended DecemberA 31 are as follows: Pension BenefitsPost-retirement BenefitsYears ended December 31202420232022202420232022Discount

rate4.96A %5.15A %2.80A %4.89A %5.09A %2.44A %Expected long-term return on plan assets5.25A %5.25A %3.12A %N/AN/AN/ARate of compensation

increase4.00A %4.00A %4.00A %N/AN/AN/AAssumed health care cost trend rates Health care inflation assumptions are no longer needed as all remaining retiree medical benefits are fixed
subsidies or reimbursements.49Table of Contents13. Pension and Other Post-retirement Benefits (continued)Plan Assets The Companya€™s pension plan weighted asset allocations as of
DecemberA 31 by asset category are as follows: Asset Category20242023Equity securities19A %17A %Debt securities76A 70A Private equity5A 12A Casha€”A 1A 100A %100A %The following
tables present the fair value measurement of the Companya€™s plan assets as of DecemberA 31, 2024 and 2023 (dollars in millions): December 31, 2024Asset CategoryTotalQuoted Prices in
Active Markets for Identical Contracts (Level 1)Significant Other Observable Inputs (Level 2)Significant Non-observable Inputs (Level 3)Short-term investments$0.2A $0.2A $a€”A $a€”A Equity
securitiesCommon stocks2.3A 2.3A a4€”A a€”A Fixed income securitiesU.S. Treasury securities6.5A 0.8A 5.7A a€”A Other fixed income securities7.4A a€”A 7.4A a€”A Other types of
investmentsMutual funds1.2A 4€”A 1.2A 4€”A Private equity0.9A 4€”A 4€”A 0.9A Total fair value of plan asset investments$18.5A $3.3A $14.3A $0.9A Non-investment plan assets0.1A Total plan
assets$18.6A December 31, 2023Asset CategoryTotalQuoted Prices in Active Markets for Identical Contracts (Level 1)Significant Other Observable Inputs (Level 2)Significant Non-
observableA Inputs (Level 3)Short-term investments$0.2A $0.2A $a€”A $4€”A Equity securitiesCommon stocks2.5A 2.5A a€”A a€”A Fixed income securitiesU.S. Treasury

securities6.7A 0.6A 6.1A 4€”A Other fixed income securities7.4A a€”A 7.4A a€”A Other types of investmentsMutual funds1.0A 4€”A 1.0A 4€”A Private equity2.4A 4€”A a€”A 2.4A Total fair value
of plan asset investments$20.2A $3.3A $14.5A $2.4A Non-investment plan assets0.1A Total plan assets$20.3A The short-term investments included in the Company&€™s plan assets consist of
cash and cash equivalents. The fair value of the remaining categories of the Companya€ ™s plan assets are valued as follows: equity securities are valued using the closing stock price on a
national securities exchange, which reflects the last reported sales price on the last business day of the year; fixed income securities are valued using institutional bond quotes, which are based
on various market and industry inputs; mutual funds and real estate funds are valued using the net asset value of the fund, which is based on the fair value of the underlying securities; Options
are valued using the closings market value on the last day of the year; and private equity investments are 50Table of Contents13. Pension and Other Post-retirement Benefits (continued)valued
at the estimated fair value at the previous quarter end, which is based on the proportionate share of the underlying portfolio investments. The following table presents a reconciliation of the fair
value measurements using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) as of DecemberA 31, 2024 and 2023 (dollars in millions): Private equityBalance at December 31, 2022$2. 2A Actual return



(loss) on plan assets:Relating to assets still held at the reporting date3.9A Relating to assets sold during the period(3.6)Purchases, sales and settlements(0.3)Transfers in and/or out0.2A Balance
at December 31, 20232.4A Actual return (loss) on plan assets:Relating to assets still held at the reporting date(0.6)Relating to assets sold during the period(1.0)Purchases, sales and
settlements0.1A Balance at December 31, 2024$0.9A The Companya€™ s investment policies employ an approach whereby a diversified blend of equity and bond investments is used to
maximize the long-term return of plan assets for a prudent level of risk. Equity investments are diversified across domestic and non-domestic stocks, as well as growth, value, and small to large
capitalizations. Bond investments include corporate and government issues, with short, mid, and long-term maturities, with a focus on investment-grade when purchased. The Companya€™s
target allocation to equity managers is between 30 to 60 percent with the remainder allocated primarily to bonds, private equity managers, and cash. Investment and market risks are measured
and monitored on an ongoing basis through regular investment portfolio reviews, annual liability measurements and periodic asset/liability studies.The Companya€™s actual asset allocations
are in line with target allocations. The Company regularly reviews its actual asset allocation and periodically rebalances its investments to the targeted allocation when considered
appropriate.There was no Company stock included in plan assets at DecemberA 31, 2024. Cash Flows The Company was not required to make any contributions in 2024 to the Plan and is not
required to make a contribution in 2025.Estimated Future Payments As of DecemberA 31, 2024, the following benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are
expected to be paid: Years ended December 31 (dollars in millions)Pension BenefitsPost-retirement Benefits2025$0.9A $0.2A 20261.0A 0.2A 20275.4A 0.2A 20286.0A 0.2A 20291.2A 0.2A 2030
4€“ 20347.0A 0.6A 51Table of Contents14. Derivative Instruments The Company utilizes certain derivative instruments to enhance its ability to manage currency exposure as well as raw
materials price risk. Derivative instruments are entered into for periods consistent with the related underlying exposures and do not constitute positions independent of those exposures. The
Company does not enter into contracts for speculative purposes. The contracts are executed with major financial institutions with no credit loss anticipated for failure of the counterparties to
perform. Cash Flow HedgesWith the exception of its net investment hedges, the Company designates all of its hedging instruments as cash flow hedges. For derivative instruments that are
designated and qualify as a cash flow hedge (i.e., hedging the exposure to variability in expected future cash flows that is attributable to a particular risk), gains or losses on the derivative
instrument are reported as a component of other comprehensive loss, net of tax, and are reclassified into earnings in the same line item associated with the forecasted transaction and in the
same period or periods during which the hedged transaction affects earnings. Foreign Currency Forward Contracts The Company is exposed to foreign currency exchange risk as a result of
transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of certain subsidiaries. The Company utilizes foreign currency forward purchase and sale contracts to manage the volatility
associated with foreign currency purchases, sales and certain intercompany transactions in the normal course of business. Principal currencies for which the Company utilizes foreign currency
forward contracts include the British pound, Canadian dollar, Euro and Mexican peso. Gains and losses on these instruments are recorded in accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of tax,
until the underlying transaction is recorded in earnings. When the hedged item is realized, gains or losses are reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive loss to the consolidated
statement of earnings. The assessment of effectiveness for forward contracts is based on changes in the forward rates. These hedges have been determined to be effective.The majority of the
amounts in accumulated other comprehensive loss for cash flow hedges are expected to be reclassified into earnings within one year. The combined fair value of the foreign currency forward
contracts was a liability balance of $1.4 million as of DecemberA 31, 2024 which was recorded in Accrued liabilities within the consolidated balance sheet. The combined fair value of the foreign
currency forward contracts was an asset balance of $0.9 million as of DecemberA 31, 2023 and recorded in Other current assets within the consolidated balance sheet.The following table
summarizes, by currency, the contractual amounts of the Companya€™s foreign currency forward contracts that are designated as cash flow hedges: December 31 (dollars in
millions)20242023BuySellBuySellCanadian dollara€”A 28.9A a4€”A 80.5A Euro14.0A a€”A 24.1A 4€”A Mexican peso27.2A a€”A 14.2A a€”A Total$41.2A $28.9A $38.3A $80.5A Interest Rate
SwapsThe Company is exposed to interest rate risk as a result of the Companya€™s floating rate borrowings. The Company enters into forward interest rate swap agreements with an
independent counterparty to hedge the variability in cash flows due to changes in Secured Overnight Financing Rate (SOFR) benchmark interest rate associated with variable rate borrowings.
The interest rate swap has a maturity date of September 30, 2029 and effectively converts the Company&a€™s variable interest rate obligations to fixed interest rate obligations. Interest rate
swaps with an aggregate notional amount of 4.2 billion rupees and zero were 52Table of Contents14. Derivative Instruments (continued)outstanding as of DecemberA 31, 2024 and

DecemberA 31, 2023, respectively. The  aggregate effective interest rate of the swap as of DecemberA 31, 2024 was 8.25%.The fair value of the interest rate swap contract was a liability
balance of $0.5 million as of DecemberA 31, 2024 which was recorded in Accrued liabilities within the consolidated balance sheet. The fair value of the interest rate swap contract was zero as of
DecemberA 31, 2023.The effect of cash flow hedges on the consolidated statement of earnings: Years ended DecemberA 31 (dollars in millions):Derivatives in ASC 815 cash flow hedging
relationshipsAmount of (loss) gain recognized in other comprehensive loss on derivativesLocation of gain (loss) reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive loss into earningsAmount of
gain (loss) reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive loss into earnings2024202320242023Foreign currency contracts$(0.7)$3.7A Cost of products sold$2.2A $9.2A Interest rate
swaps$(0.5)$4€”A Interest Expense$(0.1)$4€”A Net Investment HedgesThe Company uses foreign currency denominated intercompany debt and third-party foreign currency forward contracts
to hedge the exposure to a portion of the Companya€™s net investments in certain non-U.S. subsidiaries against the effect of exchange rate fluctuations on the translation of foreign currency
balances to the U.S. dollar. For the derivative instruments that are designated and qualify as net investment hedges, gains and losses are reported in other comprehensive loss where they offset
gains and losses recorded on the Companya€™s net investments in its non-U.S. subsidiaries. These hedges are determined to be effective. The Company recognized $2.3 million of after tax
gains and $(1.8) million of after-tax losses associated with hedges of a net investment in non-U.S. subsidiaries in currency translation adjustment in other comprehensive income in 2024 and
2023, respectively. The contractual amount of the Companya€ ™s foreign currency denominated intercompany debt that are designated as net investment hedge was 1.5 billion RMB as of
DecemberA 31, 2024. The fair value of the net investment hedges was zero as of DecemberA 31, 2024. The contractual amount of the Companya€™s foreign currency denominated
intercompany debt that are designated as net investment hedge was $204.0A million as of DecemberA 31, 2023. The fair value of the third-party foreign currency forward contracts was a
liability balance $(4.2) million as of DecemberA 31, 2023 which was recorded in Accrued liabilities within the consolidated balance sheet. Balance Sheet HedgesForeign Exchange ContractsThe
Company periodically enters into foreign exchange contracts to mitigate the foreign currency volatility relative to certain intercompany loans. These foreign exchange contracts did not qualify
for hedge accounting in accordance with ASC 815 and as such were marked to market through earnings. The combined fair value of the foreign exchange contracts was zero as of

DecemberA 31, 2024. The combined fair value of the foreign exchange contracts was an liability balance of $(0.8) million as of DecemberA 31, 2023 and recorded in Accrued liabilities within the
consolidated balance sheet.The following table summarizes the contractual amounts of the Company's foreign exchange contracts that are designated as balance sheet hedges:December 31
(dollars in millions)20242023BuySellBuySellCanadian dollar$a€”A $6.4A $44.1A $a4€”A Chinese yuana€”A 4€”A 206.8A 4€”A Total$a€”A $6.4A $250.9A $4€”A The amounts recognized within
the consolidated statements of earnings related to the Company's foreign exchange contracts are set forth below.53Table of Contents14. Derivative Instruments (continued)Years ended
DecemberA 31 (dollars in millions)Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments:Location of within the consolidated statements of earnings202420232022Foreign exchange contractsOther
expense (income) - net$0.9A $(3.7)$1.2A 15. Income Taxes The components of the provision for (benefit from) income taxes consisted of the following: Years ended December 31 (dollars in
millions)202420232022Current:Federal$124.3A $124.9A $101.8A State25.2A 28.3A 26.6A International22.5A 27.5A 30.5A Deferred:Federal(4.4)(4.8)(136.9)State(0.5)(1.8)
(34.1)International0.3A 2.8A 0.1A $167.4A $176.9A $(12.0)The provision for (benefit from) income taxes differs from the U.S. federal statutory rate due to the following items: Years ended
December 31202420232022Provision at U.S. federal statutory rate(1)21.0A %21.0A %21.0A %State taxes, net of federal benefit(1)2.8A 2.8A 2.7A U.S pension plan settlement

expense(l)é€”A 4€”A (29.5)International income tax rate differentiala€”China(1.1)(1.2)(4.6)International income tax rate differentiala€”other0.7A 1.3A 3.5A Research tax credits(0.4)(0.4)
(1.0)Excess tax benefit on stock compensation(0.5)(0.4)(0.5)Other1.4A 1.0A 3.0A 23.9A %24.1A %(5.4)%(1) Included in 2022 is tax effects of the pension plan settlement expense associated with
the termination of the Plan. Refer to Note 13, &€cePension and Other Postretirement Benefitsa€ for more information. A tax benefit of $101.9A million on the pretax expense were reflected in
computed tax provision at U.S. federal statutory rate and state taxes, net of federal tax benefit for 2022. In 2022, the tax benefit of $65.8A million or a 29.5 percent benefit related to the release
of stranded tax effects in AOCL through the income statement was reflected in U.S. pension plan settlement expense.Components of earnings before income taxes were as follows: Years ended
December 31 (dollars in millions)202420232022U.S.$577.2A $596.4A $63.9A International123.8A 137.1A 159.8A $701.0A $733.5A $223.7A Our 2022 provision for income taxes included
$167.7A million of tax benefit related to the effective settlement of the Plan, $101.9A million of which was the related tax effect on the pretax expense of $41 7.3A million and $65.8A million of
which was related to the release of stranded tax effects in AOCL through the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act. Refer to Note 13, &€cePension and Other Postretirement Benefits,a€ for more
information.The Company paid income taxes of $187.7 million, $189.5 million, and $175.4 million in 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively. 54Table of Contents15. Income Taxes
(continued)Undistributed earnings of the Companya€ ™ s foreign subsidiaries amounted to $695.0A million at DecemberA 31, 2024. The Company had $3.5 million accrued for its estimate of
withholding taxes due upon repatriation of approximately $93.5A million of foreign earnings it considers not permanently reinvested as of DecemberA 31, 2024. The Company considers
$601.5A million of the total undistributed earnings to be permanently reinvested as a result of various factors including imposition of statutory restrictions at certain jurisdictions that prohibit
the repatriation of a portion of the earnings. Accordingly, no provision for state, local and foreign withholding income taxes has been provided thereon. Upon repatriation of those earnings, in
the form of dividends or otherwise, the Company would be subject to state and local taxes, and withholding taxes payable to the various foreign countries. The Company expects to be able to
take a 100 percent dividend received deduction to offset any US federal income tax liability. Determination of the amount of unrecognized state and local deferred income tax liability and
associated foreign withholding taxes is not practicable due to the complexities associated with its hypothetical calculation. The tax effects of temporary differences of assets and liabilities
between income tax and financial reporting are as follows: December 31 (dollars in millions)20242023AssetsLiabilitiesAssetsLiabilitiesEmployee benefits$16.7A $a€”A $12.9A $a€”A Product
liability and warranties51.6A 4€”A 52.1A &4€”A Inventories2.0A 4€”A 3.0A 4€”A Accounts receivable12.0A 4€”A 13.3A &4€”A Property, plant and

equipmenta€”A 49.8A a€”A 52.4A Intangiblesa€”A 58.6A a€”A 62.4A Environmental liabilities1.4A 4€”A 1.5A a€”A Undistributed foreign earningsa€”A 3.5A 4€”A 5.1A Tax loss and credit
carryovers9.7A 4€”A 12.3A a€”A All other11.0A 4€”A 17.6A 4€”A Valuation allowance(6.1)4€”A (11.7)a€”A $98.3A $111.9A $101.0A $119.9A Net liability$13.6A $18.9A The Company believes it
is more likely than not that it will realize its net deferred tax assets through the reduction of future taxable income. The Company considered historical operating results in determining the
probability of the realization of the deferred tax assets. A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amounts of tax loss carryovers, credit carryovers and valuation allowances is as follows: Net
Operating Losses and Tax CreditsValuation AllowancesDecember 31 (dollars in millions)2024202320242023Beginning balance$12.3A $10.1A $11.7A $8.3A Change in

balance(2.6)2.2A (5.6)3.4A Ending balance$9.7A $12.3A $6.1A $11.7A The Company has foreign net operating loss carryovers that expire in 2025 through 2030, with some net operating losses
being carried forward indefinitely and state and local net operating loss carryovers that are carried forward indefinitely. A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized
benefits is as follows: (dollars in millions)20242023Balance at JanuaryA 1$17.2A $15.0A Change to tax positions from prior years(1.0)2.2A Balance at December 31$16.2A $17.2A 55Table of
Contents15. Income Taxes (continued)The amount of unrecognized tax benefits that, if recognized, would affect the effective income tax rate is $4.3A million. The Company recognizes potential
interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits as a component of income tax expense. At DecemberA 31, 2024, there was an immaterial amount of interest and penalties accrued.
The Company anticipates that there will not be a material decrease in the total amount of unrecognized tax benefits in 2025. The Companya€™s U.S. federal income tax returns and its U.S.
state and local income tax returns are subject to audit for the years 2018-2024 and 2006-2024, respectively. The Company is subject to examinations in foreign tax jurisdictions for the years
2018-2024. If the examinations at certain foreign tax jurisdictions are resolved unfavorably, there could be additional assessments imposed by the relevant authorities.16. Commitments and
ContingenciesEnvironmental Contingencies The Company is a potentially responsible party in judicial and administrative proceedings seeking to clean up sites which have been environmentally
impacted. In each case, the Company has established reserves, insurance proceeds and/or a potential recovery from third parties. The Company believes any environmental claims will not have
a material effect on its financial position or results of operations. Product LiabilityThe Company is subject to various claims and pending lawsuits for product liability and other matters arising
out of the conduct of the Companya€™s business. For product liability claims, the Company self insures a portion of its product liability loss exposure. The Company has established reserves
and insurance coverage that it believes are adequate to cover incurred claims. For the years ended DecemberA 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company had $125 million of product liability insurance
for individual losses in excess of $7.5 million. At DecemberA 31, 2024 and 2023, the reserve for product liability was $26.3 million and $30.5 million, respectively. The Company periodically
reevaluates its exposure on claims and lawsuits and makes adjustments to its reserves as appropriate. The Company believes, based on current knowledge, consultation with counsel, adequate
reserves and insurance coverage that the outcome of such claims and lawsuits will not have a material adverse effect on the Companya€™s financial position, results of operations or cash flows.
Purchase ObligationsThe Company utilizes blanket purchase orders to communicate expected annual requirements to certain suppliers. Requirements under blanket purchase orders generally
do not become committed until several weeks prior to the scheduled unit production. The purchase obligations the Company considers firm as of DecemberA 31, 2024, is $188.8A million, most
of which will be ordered in 2025.Inventory Repurchase ArrangementsThe Company maintains a commercial relationship with a supply-chain service provider (the Provider) in connection with
the Companya€™s business in China. In this capacity, the Provider offers order-entry, warehousing and logistics support. The Provider also offers asset-backed financing to certain of the
Companya€™s distributors in China to facilitate their working capital needs. To facilitate its financing support business, the Provider has collateralized lending facilities in place with multiple
Chinese banks under which the Company has agreed to repurchase inventory if both requested by the banks and certain defined conditions are met, primarily related to the aging of the
distributorsa€™ notes. The Provider is required to indemnify the Company for any losses the Company would incur in the event of an inventory repurchase under these arrangements. Potential
losses under the repurchase arrangements represent the difference between the repurchase price and net proceeds from the resale of product plus costs incurred in the process, less related
distributor rebates. Before considering any reduction of distributor rebate accruals of $2.0 million and $0.6 million as of DecemberA 31, 2024 and DecemberA 31, 2023, respectively, and from
the resale of the related inventory, the gross amount the Company would be obligated to repurchase, which would be contingent on the default of all of the outstanding loans, was approximately
$2.9 million and $0.8 million as of DecemberA 31, 2024 and DecemberA 31, 2023, respectively. The Companya€ ™ s reserves for estimated losses under repurchase arrangements were
immaterial as of DecemberA 31, 2024 and DecemberA 31, 2023. Legal Judgment IncomeOn September 28, 2022, the Company received a cash judgment of $11.5A million from a competitor of
our North America segment related to its infringement of one of the Companya€™s patents. The terms of the judgment resulted in pre-tax income of $11.5A million which is recorded as an
offset to selling, general and administrative expenses and a related tax expense of $2.9A million.56Table of Contents17. Operations by SegmentThe Company is comprised of two reporting
segments: North America and Rest of World. The Rest of World segment is primarily comprised of China, Europe and India. Both segments manufacture and market comprehensive lines of
residential and commercial gas and electric water heaters, boilers, tanks and water treatment products. Both segments primarily manufacture and market in their respective regions of the
world. The Companya€™s Chief Executive Officer (CEO) is the Chief Operating Decision Maker (CODM). The CODM allocates resources and makes operating decisions based on the financial
information presented by the two reporting segments. The measures regularly reviewed by our CODM include segment sales, earnings, and segment margin. Segment earnings, defined by the
Company as earnings before interest expense, taxes, corporate expense, and corporate research and development expenses, were used to measure the performance of the segments. Our CODM
uses these financial measures to evaluate and allocate capital and company resources as critical determinants of segment performance.The accounting policies of the reportable segments are
the same as those described in the &€ceSummary of Significant Accounting Policiesa€ outlined in Note 1 - Organization and Significant Accounting Policies. December 31, 2024(dollars in
millions)North AmericaRest of WorldInter-segment EliminationTotal SegmentsLess: Corporate ExpensesTotalSales from external

customers$2,928.1A $890.0A $a€”A $3,818.1A $a€”A $3,818.1A Inter-segment sales22.0A 28.6A 4€”A 50.6A a€”A 50.6A 2,950.1A 918.6A a€”A 3,868.7A 4€”A 3,868.7A Elimination of Inter-
segment sales(22.0)(28.6)a€”A (50.6)a€”A (50.6)Net Sales2,928.1A 890.0A 4€”A 3,818.1A a€”A 3,818.1A Cost of products sold1,780.1A 581.9A 4€”A 2,362.0A 4€”A 2,362.0A Gross



Profit1,148.0A 308.1A 4€”A 1,456.1A a€”A 1,456.1A Inter-segment Profita€”A 0.4A (0.4)a€”A 4€”A a€”A Selling, general and administrative

expenses433.2A 235.0A 4€”A 668.2A 71.1A 739.3A Restructuring and impairment expense6.3A 11.3A 4€”A 17.6A 4€”A 17.6A Other expense (income), net(1)1.0A (2.3)a€”A (1.3)(7.2)
(8.5)Earnings$707.5A $64.5A $(0.4)$771.6A $(63.9)$707.7A Interest expense(6.7)Earning before provision for income taxes$701.0A (1)Other expense (income), net consist primarily of interest
income that is located within Corporate Expenses.December 31, 2023(dollars in millions)North AmericaRest of WorldInter-segment EliminationTotal SegmentsLess: Corporate
ExpensesTotalSales from external customers$2,904.3A $948.5A $4€”A $3,852.8A $a€”A $3,852.8A Inter-segment

sales18.6A 8.4A a€”A 27.0A a€”A 27.0A 2,922.9A 956.9A a€”A 3,879.8A a4€”A 3,879.8A Elimination of Inter-segment sales(18.6)(8.4)a€”A (27.0)a€”A (27.0)Net

Sales2,904.3A 948.5A a€”A 3,852.8A a€”A 3,852.8A Cost of products sold1,761.1A 607.0A 4€”A 2,368.1A (0.1)2,368.0A Gross Profit1,143.2A 341.5A 4€”A 1,484.7A 0.1A 1,484.8A Inter-segment
Profita€”A 0.5A (0.5)a€”A 4€”A a€”A Selling, general and administrative expenses411.6A 243.0A 4€”A 654.6A 72.8A 727.4A Restructuring and impairment

expensea€”A 15.7A 4€”A 15.7A 3.1A 18.8A Other expense (income), net(2)4.9A (0.1)a€”A 4.8A (11.7)(6.9)Earnings$726.7A $83.4A $(0.5)$809.6A $(64.1)$745.5A Interest expense(12.0)Earnings
before provision for income taxes$733.5A (2)Other expense (income), net consist primarily of interest income that is located within Corporate Expenses.57Table of Contents17. Operations by
Segment (continued)December 31, 2022(dollars in millions)North AmericaRest of WorldInter-segment EliminationTotal SegmentsLess: Corporate ExpensesTotalSales from external
customers$2,792.4A $961.5A $4€”A $3,753.9A $4€”A $3,753.9A Inter-segment sales26.7A 4.3A 4€”A 31.0A 4€”A 31.0A 2,819.1A 965.8A &4€”A 3,784.9A 4€”A 3,784.9A Elimination of Inter-
segment sales(26.7)(4.3)a€”A (31.0)4€”A (31.0)Net Sales2,792.4A 961.5A 4€”A 3,753.9A a4€”A 3,753.9A Cost of products sold1,813.9A 610.6A a€”A 2,424.5A (0.2)2,424.3A Gross

Profit978.5A 350.9A a€”A 1,329.4A 0.2A 1,329.6A Inter-segment Profit0.3A a4€”A (0.3)a€”A a4€”A a€”A Selling, general and administrative

expenses356.2A 252.0A 4€”A 608.2A 62.7A 670.9A Other expense (income), net(3)356.6A 2.6A 4€”A 359.2A 66.4A 425.6A Earnings$266.0A $96.3A $(0.3)$362.0A $(128.9)$233.1A Interest
expense(9.4)Earnings before provision for income taxes$223.7A (3)Other expense (income), net consist primarily of a pre-tax pension settlement expense of $346.8A million in the North
America segment and $70.5A million within Corporate expenses. In 2024, sales to the Company's North America segment&€™s two largest customers were $586.6 million and $495.8 million
which represented 15 percent and 13 percent of the Companya€ ™s net sales, respectively. In 2023, sales to the Company's North America segmenta€™s two largest customers were $604.5
million and $509.0 million which represented 16 percent and 13 percent of the Companya€™ s net sales, respectively. In 2022, sales to the Company's North America segmenta€™s two largest
customers were $596.4 million and $414.2 million which represented 16 percent and 11 percent of the Companya€™s net sales, respectively.Assets, depreciation and capital expenditures by
segmentTotal Assets (December 31)Depreciation and AmortizationA (YearsA Ended December 31)Capital Expenditures (Years Ended December 31)(dollars in
millions)202420232022202420232022202420232022North America$2,315.2A $2,297.4A $2,230.3A $60.4A $58.6A $55.7A $100.3A $58.4A $48.6A Rest of

World592.1A 475.0A 597.7A 17.0A 18.3A 20.5A 7.6A 11.0A 10.9A Total

Segments2,907.3A 2,772.4A 2,828.0A 77.4A 76.9A 76.2A 107.9A 69.4A 59.5A Corporate332.7A 441.5A 504.3A 1.4A 1.4A 0.7A 0.1A 3.2A 10.8A Total$3,240.0A $3,213.9A $3,332.3A $78.8A $78.3/
majority of corporate assets consist of cash, cash equivalents, marketable securities, and deferred income taxes.58Table of Contents17. Operations by Segment (continued)Net sales and long-
lived assets by geographic locationThe following data by geographic area includes net sales based on product shipment destination and long-lived assets based on physical location. Long-lived
assets include net property, plant and equipment, operating lease assets and other long-term assets. Long-lived Assets (December 31)Net Sales (Years Ended December 31)(dollars in
millions)202420232022202420232022United States$441.4A $422.6A $409.8A United

States$2,573.7A $2,547.1A $2,430.0A China193.8A 210.6A 225.2A China760.0A 827.4A 826.6A Canada54.0A 58.1A 54.7A Canada331.2A 335.3A 341.6A Other Foreign75.1A 52.1A 41.3A Other
Foreign153.2A 143.0A 155.7A Total$764.3A $743.4A $731.0A Total$3,818.1A $3,852.8A $3,753.9A ITEMA 9 4€“ CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON
ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURENone. ITEMA 9A 4€“ CONTROLS AND PROCEDURESEvaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures Our management, with the participation
of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended (4€cethe Exchange Acta€)) as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based on the evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have
concluded that, as of the end of such period our disclosure controls and procedures are effective in recording, processing, summarizing, and reporting, on a timely basis, information required to
be disclosed by us in the reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act, and that information is accumulated and communicated to the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely discussions regarding required disclosure. Management Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting Our management is responsible for
establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f)). The Companya€™ s internal control over financial reporting is
designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles. Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of our internal control over financial
reporting based on the Internal Control-Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Consistent with guidance issued by
the Securities and Exchange Commission that an assessment of a recently acquired business may be omitted from managementa€™s report on internal control over financial reporting in the
year of acquisition, management excluded an assessment of the effectiveness of the Companya€™ s internal control over financial reporting related to Pureit. The acquisition constituted 3.8
percent and 6.5 percent of total assets and net assets, respectively, as of December 31, 2024 and less than 0.5 percent of net sales and net earnings for the year then ended. Based on this
evaluation, our management has concluded that, as of DecemberA 31, 2024, our internal control over financial reporting was effective. Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over
financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to risk that controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. ErnstA & Young LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, has
audited our consolidated financial statements and the effectiveness of internal controls over financial reporting as of DecemberA 31, 2024 as stated in their report which is included herein.
Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting There have been no changes in the Companya€™s internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f))
during the year ended DecemberA 31, 2024 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting. 59Table of

ContentsITEMA 9B 4€“ OTHER INFORMATIONDuring the three months ended DecemberA 31, 2024, none of our directors or Section 16 officers adopted or terminated a &€ceRule 10b5-
1trading arrangementa€ or a€cenon-Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement,a€ as each term is defined in Item 408(a) of Regulation S-K. ITEMA 9C 4€“ DISCLOSURE REGARDING FOREIGN
JURISDICTIONS THAT PREVENT INSPECTIONSNone.60Table of ContentsREPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM To the Stockholders and the Board of
Directors of A. O. Smith Corporation Opinion on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting We have audited A. O. Smith Corporationa€™s internal control over financial reporting as of
DecemberA 31, 2024, based on criteria established in Internal Controla€”Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013
framework) (the COSO criteria). In our opinion, A. O. Smith Corporation (the Company) maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of

DecemberA 31, 2024, based on the COSO criteria. As indicated in the accompanying Management Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting, managementa€™s assessment of and
conclusion on the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting did not include the internal controls of Pureit, which is included in the 2024 consolidated financial statements of the
Company and constituted 3.8 percent and 6.5 percent of total assets and net assets, respectively, as of December 31, 2024 and less than 0.5 percent of net sales and net earnings for the year
then ended. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting of the Company also did not include an evaluation of the internal control over financial reporting of Pureit.We also have
audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the consolidated balance sheets of the Company as of DecemberA 31,
2024 and 2023, the related consolidated statements of earnings, comprehensive earnings, stockholdersa€™ equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended DecemberA 31,
2024, and the related notes and financial statement schedule listed in the Index at Item 15(a) and our report dated FebruaryA 11, 2025 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.Basis for
Opinion The Companya€™s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over
financial reporting included in the accompanying Management Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Companya€™ s internal
control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance
with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.We conducted our audit in accordance with the
standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and
evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We
believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting A companya€™ s internal control over financial
reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles. A companya€™s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records
that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as
necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in
accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the companya€™ s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent
or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or
that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate./s/ ErnstA & Young LLPMilwaukee, WisconsinFebruaryA 11, 202561Table of ContentsPART III ITEMA 10 4€“
DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCEThe information included under the headings &€meElection of Directorsa€ and &€ceBoard Committeesa€ in our definitive
Proxy Statement for the 2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) under Regulation 14A within 120 days after the end of the
registranta€™s fiscal year) is incorporated herein by reference. The information required regarding Executive Officers of the Company is included in Part I of this Annual Report on Form 10-K
under the caption &€ceExecutive Officers of the Company.a€We have a separately designated Audit Committee on which Michael M. Larsen, Todd W. Fister, Christopher L. Mapes, and Lois M.
Martin serve, with Mr.A Larsen, as Chairperson. All members are independent under applicable SEC and New York Stock Exchange rules; the Board of Directors of the Company has concluded
that Mr. Larsen, Mr. Fister and Ms. Martin are a€ceaudit committee financial expertsa€ in accordance with SEC rules. We have adopted a Financial Code of Ethics applicable to our principal
executive officer, principal financial officer and principal accounting officer. As a best practice, this code has been executed by key financial and accounting personnel as well. In addition, we
have adopted a general code of business conduct for our directors, officers and all employees, which is known as the A.A O.A Smith Guiding Principles. The Financial Code of Ethics, the

A.A 0.A Smith Guiding Principles and other company corporate governance matters are available on our website at www.aosmith.com. We are not including the information contained on our
website as a part of or incorporating it by reference into, this Form 10-K. We intend to disclose on this website any amendments to, or waivers from, the Financial Code of Ethics or the A. O.
Smith Guiding Principles that are required to be disclosed pursuant to SEC rules. There have been no waivers of the Financial Code of Ethics or the A. O. Smith Guiding Principles. Stockholders
may obtain copies of any of these corporate governance documents free of charge by writing to the Corporate Secretary at the address on the cover page of this Form 10-K. The information
included under the heading 4€ceCompliance with SectionA 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Acta€ in our definitive Proxy Statement for the 2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (to be filed
with the SEC under Regulation 14A within 120 days after the end of the registranta€™s fiscal year) is incorporated herein by reference. ITEMA 11 a4€“ EXECUTIVE COMPENSATIONThe
information included under the headings "Executive Compensation," "Director Compensation," and "Report of the Personnel and Compensation Committee" in the Company's Definitive Proxy
Statement for the 2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (to be filed with the SEC under Regulation 14A within 120 days after the end of the registranta€™s fiscal year) is incorporated herein by
reference. 62Table of ContentsITEM 12 a€“ SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERSThe information
included under the headings a€cePrincipal Stockholdersa€ and a€ceSecurity Ownership of Directors and Managementa€ in our definitive Proxy Statement for the 2025 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders (to be filed with the SEC under Regulation 14A within 120 days after the end of the registranta€™s fiscal year) is incorporated herein by reference. Equity Compensation Plan
Information The following table provides information about our equity compensation plans as of DecemberA 31, 2024. Plan CategoryNumber of securities to be issued upon the exercise of
outstanding options, warrants and rightsWeighted-average exercise price of outstanding options,warrants and rightsNumber of securities remaining available for future issuance under equity
compensation plans (excluding securities reflected in the first column)Equity compensation plans approved by security holders2,1 14,214A (1)$55.07A (2)2,291,099A (3)Equity compensation
plans not approved by security holdersa€”A a€”A a€”A Total2,114,214A 55.07A 2,291,099A (1)Consists of 1,395,841 shares subject to stock options, 428,234 shares subject to employee share
units, 215,741 shares subject to director share units and 74,398 shares subject to performance stock units.(2)Represents the weighted average exercise price of outstanding options and does
not take into account outstanding share units.(3)Represents securities remaining available for issuance under the A. O. Smith Combined Incentive Compensation Plan. If any awards lapse,
expire, terminate or are canceled without issuance of shares, or shares are forfeited under any award, then such shares will become available for issuance under the A. O. Smith Combined
Incentive Compensation Plan, hereby increasing the number of securities remaining available.ITEMA 13 4€“ CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS, RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR
INDEPENDENCEThe information included under the headings 4€ceDirector Independence and Financial Literacya€, 4€ceCompensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participationa€ and
a€meProcedure for Review of Related Party Transactionsa€ in our definitive Proxy Statement for the 2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (to be filed with the SEC under Regulation 14A within
120 days after the end of the registranta€™s fiscal year) is incorporated herein by reference. ITEMA 14 4€“ PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICESOur principal accountant is Ernst
& Young, LLP (PCAOB ID: 42). The information included under the heading &€ceReport of the Audit Committeea€ in our definitive Proxy Statement for the 2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders
(to be filed with the SEC under Regulation 14A within 120 days after the end of the registranta€™s fiscal year) required by this Item 14 is incorporated herein by reference. 63Table of
ContentsPART IV ITEM 15 a€“ EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES(a)The following documents are filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K: 1.Financial Statements of the
CompanyForm 10-KPageA NumberThe following consolidated financial statements of A. O. Smith Corporation are included in Item 8:Consolidated Balance Sheets at DecemberA 31, 2024 and
202330For each of the three years in the period ended DecemberA 31, 2024:4€‘ Consolidated Statement of Earnings314€‘ Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Earnings314a€*
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows324€‘ Consolidated Statement of Stockholdersa€™ Equity33Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 34-592.Financial Statement SchedulesSchedule
I14€”Valuation and Qualifying Accounts68Schedules not included have been omitted because they are not applicable. 3.Exhibits - see the Index to Exhibits on pages 65-66 of this report. Each
management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement required to be filed as an exhibit to this report on Form 10-K are listed as Exhibits 10(a) through 10(p) in the Index to
Exhibits.Pursuant to the requirements of Rule 14a-3(b)(10) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, we will, upon request and upon payment of a reasonable fee not to exceed the
rate at which such copies are available from the SEC, furnish copies to our security holders of any exhibits listed in the Index to Exhibits.64Table of ContentsINDEX TO EXHIBITSExhibit
NumberDescription(3)(i)Restated Certificate of Incorporation of A.A O.A SmithA Corporation as amended through AprilA 11, 2016, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3i(b) in the quarterly
report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended MarchA 31, 2016.(3)(ii)By-laws of A. O. Smith Corporation as amended OctoberA 10, 2019, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 in the current



report on Form 8-K dated OctoberA 16, 2019.(4)(a)Restated Certificate of Incorporation of A. A 0.A SmithA Corporation as amended through AprilA 11, 2016, incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 3i(b) in the quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended MarchA 31, 2016.(b)Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of DecemberA 12, 2012, among A. O. Smith
Corporation, A.A O.A Smith Enterprises Ltd., A. O. Smith International Holdings B.V., and the financial institutions and agents party thereto, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 in the
current report on Form 8-K dated DecemberA 12, 2012.(c)Amendment No.A 1 dated as of DecemberA 15, 2016, to the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of DecemberA 12,
2012, among A. O. Smith Corporation, A. O Smith Enterprises Ltd., A. O. Smith International Holdings B.V., and the financial institutions and agents party thereto, incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4(c) in the annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended DecemberA 31, 2016. (d)Amendment No. 2 dated as of April 1, 2021, to the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement,
dated as of December 12, 2012, among A. O. Smith Corporation, A. O Smith Enterprises Ltd., A. O. Smith International Holdings B.V., and the financial institutions and agents party thereto,
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 in the quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2021. (e)Amendment No. 3 dated as of May 1, 2023, to the Amended and
Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of December 12, 2012, among A. O. Smith Corporation, A. O Smith Enterprises Ltd., A. O. Smith International Holdings B.V., and the financial institutions
and agents party thereto, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 in the quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2023. (flJAmendment No. 4 dated as of August 23,
2024, to the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of December 12, 2012, among A. O. Smith Corporation, A. O. Smith Enterprises Ltd., A.O. Smith International Holdings B.V. and
the financial institutions and agents party thereto, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.01 in the quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2024.(g)The corporation
has instruments that define the rights of holders of long-term debt that are not being filed with this Registration Statement in reliance upon Item 601(b)(4)(iii) of Regulation S-K. The Registrant
agrees to furnish to the SEC, upon request, copies of these instruments.(10)Material Contracts(a)A. O. Smith Combined Incentive Compensation Plan, incorporated by reference to Exhibit A of
the Proxy Statement filed on MarchA 6, 2020 for the 2020 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.(b)A.A O.A SmithA Corporation Executive Life Insurance Plan, as amended JanuaryA 1, 2009,
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(b) of the annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended DecemberA 31, 2008.(c)A. O. Smith Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Plan adopted
DecemberA 1, 2008, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(c) of the annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended DecemberA 31, 2008.(d)A.A O.A SmithA Corporation Executive
Supplemental Pension Plan, as amended JanuaryA 1, 2009, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(d) of the annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended DecemberA 31, 2008.

(e)A.A O.A SmithA Corporation Executive Incentive Compensation Award Agreement, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
MarchA 31, 2012 (for grants between February 2012 and January 2016).(f)A. O. Smith Corporation Executive Incentive Compensation Award Agreement, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10
of the quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended MarchA 31, 2016 (for grants between February 2016 and January 2021).65Table of ContentsExhibit NumberDescription(g)A.O. Smith
Corporation Executive Incentive Compensation Award Agreement, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(h) of the annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020 (for
grants between February 2021 and January 2022).(h)A.O. Smith Corporation Executive Incentive Compensation Award Agreement (International), incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(i) of
the annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020 (for grants between February 2021 and January 2022).(i)A.O. Smith Corporation Executive Incentive Compensation
Award Agreement incorporated by reference to exhibit 10(i) of the annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021 (for grants between February 2022 and January
2023).(j)A.O. Smith Corporation Executive Incentive Compensation Award Agreement incorporated by reference to exhibit 10(j) of the annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2021 (International) (for grants between February 2022 and January 2023).(k)A. O. Smith Corporation Executive Incentive Compensation Award Agreement (Acceptance
Certificates and Terms and Conditions) incorporated by reference to exhibit 10(k) of the annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022 (for grants after February
2023).(A. O.A SmithA Corporation Senior Leadership Severance Plan, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the quarterly report for Form 10-Q for the quarter ended JuneA 30, 2009.
(m)Form of A. O. Smith Corporation Special Retention Award Agreement, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended MarchA 31, 2011.
(n)Stockholder Agreement dated as of DecemberA 9, 2008, between A.A O.A SmithA Corporation and each Smith Investment Company stockholder who becomes a signatory thereto,
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of the current report on Form 8-K dated DecemberA 9, 2008.(o)Summary of Directorsa€™ Compensation incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of
the quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended JuneA 30, 2021.(p)Recoupment Policy for Incentive Compensation dated October 9, 2023 (4€ceClawbacka€).(19)A. O. Smith Corporation
Insider Trading Compliance Policy(21)Subsidiaries.(23)Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.(31.1)Certification by the Chief Executive Officer, pursuant to SectionA 302 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, dated February 11, 2025.(31.2)Certification by the Executive Vice-President and Chief Financial Officer, pursuant to SectionA 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, dated
February 11, 2025.(32.1)Written Statement of the Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. SectionA 1350.(32.2)Written Statement of the Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
SectionA 1350.(101)The following materials from A.A O.A SmithA Corporationa€™s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended DecemberA 31, 2024 are filed herewith, formatted in
XBRL (Extensive Business Reporting Language): (i) the Consolidated Balance Sheets as of DecemberA 31, 2024 and 2023, (ii) the Consolidated Statement of Earnings for the three years ended
DecemberA 31, 2024, (iii) the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Earnings for the three years ended DecemberA 31, 2024, (iv) the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the three
years ended DecemberA 31, 2024, (v) the Consolidated Statement of Stockholdersa€™ Equity for the three years ended DecemberA 31, 2024 and (vi)A the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements.66Table of ContentsSIGNATURESPursuant to the requirements of SectionA 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on behalf of the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized. A. O. SMITH CORPORATIONDate: February 11, 2025By:/s/ Kevin J. WheelerKevin J. WheelerChairman and Chief Executive
OfficerPursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below as of FebruaryA 11, 2025 by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and
in the capacities and on the dates indicated. Name and TitleSignatureKEVIN J. WHEELER/s/ Kevin J. WheelerDirectorKevin J. WheelerChairman and Chief Executive OfficerCHARLES T.
LAUBER/s/ Charles T. LauberExecutive Vice President and Chief Financial OfficerCharles T. LauberBENJAMIN A. OTCHERE/s/ Benjamin A. OtchereVice President and ControllerBenjamin A.
OtchereRONALD D. BROWN/s/ Ronald D. BrownDirectorRonald D. BrownTODD W. FISTER/s/ Todd W. FisterDirectorTodd W. FisterVICTORIA M. HOLT/s/ Victoria M. HoltDirectorVictoria M.
HoltDR. ILHAM KADRI/s/ Dr.A Ilham KadriDirectorDr.A Ilham KadriMICHAEL M. LARSEN/s/ Michael M. LarsenDirectorMichael M. LarsenCHRISTOPHER L. MAPES/s/ Christopher L.
MapesDirectorChristopher L. MapesLOIS M. MARTIN/s/ Lois M. MartinDirectorLois M. MartinAJITA G. RAJENDRA/s/ Ajita G. RajendraDirectorAjita G. RajendraMARK D. SMITH/s/ Mark D.
SmithDirectorMark D. Smith67Table of ContentsA. O. SMITH CORPORATION SCHEDULE II - VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS (Dollars in millions)Years ended DecemberA 31,
2024, 2023 and 2022DescriptionBalance at Beginning of YearCharged to Costs and ExpensesAcquisition of BusinessesDeductionsBalance at End of Year2024:Valuation allowance for trade and
notes receivable$10.1A $3.1A $4€”A $(0.3)$12.9A Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets11.7A a€”A 4€”A (5.6)6.1A 2023:Valuation allowance for trade and notes

receivable$9.5A $1.1A $4€”A $(0.5)$10.1A Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets8.3A 3.4A 4€”A 4€”A 11.7A 2022:Valuation allowance for trade and notes

receivable$9.5A $0.6A $a€”A $(0.6)$9.5A Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets7.1A 1.2A a€”A a€”A 8.3A 68DocumentExhibit 19A. O. SMITH CORPORATIONINSIDER TRADING
COMPLIANCE POLICYPurpose / Policy StatementA. O. Smith Corporation and our worldwide affiliates are committed to ongoing compliance with all applicable insider trading laws. The
purpose of this policy is to assist you in meeting your responsibility to comply with these laws.Scope / Target AudienceThis Policy applies to all directors, officers and employees of A. O. Smith
and our subsidiaries, divisions, joint ventures, and other affiliates. This Policy applies to family members who reside with you (including children away at college), anyone else with whom you
share a household, and any family members with whom you do not share a household but whose securities transactions in are directed by you or are subject to your influence or control, such as
parents or children who consult with you before they trade in securities. In addition, this Policy applies to any entities that you influence or control, including any corporations, partnerships,
limited liability companies or trusts.Defined Termsa€¢Material Information: any information that a reasonable investor would consider important in the decision to buy, hold or sell securities.
Generally, it includes any information which could reasonably affect the price of our stocks and/or securities. Some examples of material information are included below. These are only some
examples of what may be considered material information. Either positive or negative information may be material.oInformation regarding future earnings or losses; oChanges in dividend
policies; oDeclaration of a dividend;oAny pending or proposed merger, acquisition or tender offer;oA significant sale of assets or sale of a subsidiary;oSignificant management changes; oLabor
negotiations; oThe offering of additional securities; oInformation about our capital structure, including liquidity or other financial metrics; oUnusual gains or losses in major operations; oMajor
marketing changes; oThe gain or loss of a substantial customer or supplier; oSignificant new products or discoveries; oA material cybersecurity incident.4€¢Nonpublic Information: any
information about A. O. Smith or our subsidiaries, divisions, joint ventures, or other affiliates that has not been publicly disclosed. We generally consider information as no longer nonpublic after
the second business day following the day that we broadly disclose the information to the public. Nonpublic information is typically disclosed by filing annual, quarterly, current or other reports
and communications with the Securities and Exchange Commission. We customarily release our annual results during the latter part of January and our quarterly results the third week of April,
July and October. Policy RequirementsAs an employee you may have access to material nonpublic information about A. O. Smith or its subsidiaries, divisions, joint ventures, or other affiliates.
You may also have access to material nonpublic information about other companies (including our customers or suppliers). If you have access to material nonpublic information, you must pay
careful attention to the sections below. If you have any questions you should immediately reach out to the General Counsel or Chief Financial Officer. Confidentiality and TippingIf you have or
become aware of material nonpublic information, you must keep the information confidential. This includes information about A. O. Smith as well as other companies that you may work with or
have confidential information about. You must not disclose the information to anyone, including anyone who may trade in our securities based on the information. You may not suggest or
recommend that anyone trade in our securities based on the information. This kind of disclosure is known as a€cetipping.a€ We strictly prohibit tipping of any kind. This restriction on tipping
also applies to any of your family members, relatives or friends. You are responsible for your family members, relatives or friends complying with this Policy. If you believe you have
unintentionally disclosed material nonpublic information, you must immediately report your disclosure to our General Counsel or Chief Financial Officer. Transactions in Securities While Aware
of Material Nonpublic Information If you are aware of any material nonpublic information, you may not trade (buy or sell), or engage in any other transaction with respect to, any of our
securities or take part in any action to use the information until it stops being nonpublic. It is also the policy of A. O. Smith Corporation that it will not engage in transactions in its securities
while aware of material nonpublic information relating to A. O. Smith Corporation or its securities, except if such information is disclosed to the counterparty to such transaction.Rule 10b5-1
PlansRule 10b5-1 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 provides a defense from insider trading liability. To be eligible to rely on this defense, a person must enter into a Rule 10b5-1 plan for
transactions in company securities that meets certain conditions specified in the Rule (a &€0e10b5-1 Plana€). If the plan meets the requirements of Rule 10b5-1, company securities may be
purchased or sold without regard to certain insider trading restrictions. To comply with this policy, a 10b5-1 Plan must be approved by the General Counsel and meet the requirements of Rule
10b5-1 as discussed further below. In general, a 10b5-1 Plan must be entered into in good faith at a time when the person entering into the plan is not aware of material nonpublic information
regarding our company. Rule 10b5-1 (a) requires a person (other than a director or officer, for whom it is at least 90 days) wait to begin trading under a 10b5-1 Plan until 30 days after the
adoption of the plan, (b) generally prohibits a person from having more than one plan in place at the same time and (c) restricts persons from relying on a single-trade plan more than once
during any 12-month period. Once the 10b5-1 plan is adopted, the person must act in good faith with respect to the plan and not exercise any influence over the amount of securities to be
traded, the price at which they are to be traded or the date of the trade. The 10b5-1 plan must either specify the amount, pricing and timing of transactions in advance or delegate discretion on
these matters to an independent third party.Preclearance Requirement for TransactionsAll directors, officers and key employees (who are notified they are subject to this preclearance
requirement) must notify the General Counsel and the Chief Financial Officer in writing (by electronic mail or otherwise) before any proposed purchase or sale of, or other transaction with
respect to, our stock. The approval of both the General Counsel and the Chief Financial Officer is required for any proposed trade or transaction. An electronic stock approval process is
available on AOSNet. Once the director, officer or key employee completes the electronic form, it is automatically routed to the General Counsel and the Chief Financial Officer, and the
individual is electronically notified when the process is complete. Clearance will normally be given for a period of fifteen (15) calendar days unless a shorter period is stated and unless the
person given clearance is aware of undisclosed material information.Additionally, directors, officers and anyone who beneficially owns 10% or more of A. O. Smith securities must timely report
any changes in their ownership under Section 16 of the Exchange Act by filing a Form 4 with the SEC before the end of the second business day following execution of the transaction. Contact
the General Counsel or Wendy Grant, Supervisor Law Department Administration at wgrant@aosmith.com or 414-359-4147, before trading or engaging in other transactions in our securities to
ensure that the transaction is reported timely to the SEC. If you are subject to these preclearance requirements and you wish to trade pursuant to a 10b5-1 Plan, you must obtain the approval of
the General Counsel prior to entering into the 10b5-1 Plan. The General Counsel, or his or her designee, must review the 10b5-1 Plan for compliance with this Policy. In addition to the
requirements for a 10b5-1 Plan set forth above under &€ceRule 10b5-1 Plansa€:a€¢You may only enter into or amend a 10b5-1 Plan during an open trade window.a€¢For directors and officers,
the 10b5-1 Plan must also include a representation certifying that they are not aware of material nonpublic information about us and are adopting the plan in good faith and not as a scheme to
evade the prohibitions of Rule 10b-5.4€¢For directors and officers, the first trade may not occur under a 10b5-1 plan until the later of 90 days after the adoption of the plan or two business days
following the disclosure of our financial results in a Form 10-Q or Form 10-K relating to the quarter in which the plan was adopted, subject to a maximum of 120 days after adoption of the
plan.a€¢Unless expressly approved by the General Counsel and compliant with Rule 10b5-1, you may have only one 10b5-1 Plan in effect at a time.a4€¢Any amendment to a 10b5-1 Plan will be
treated as a termination of an existing 10b5-1 Plan and the entry into a new 10b5-1 Plan. Accordingly, the terms of any amendment must be approved in accordance with the terms of this Policy
and must otherwise comply with the terms of this Policy as if the amendment were a new 10b5-1 Plan.a€¢If you desire to terminate a 10b5-1 Plan, you must consult with the General Counsel
prior to terminating the 10b5-1 Plan.Any advice provided by the General Counsel, or his or her designees, a proposed purchase, sale, gift or other transfer of our will relate solely to pre-
clearance and the restraints imposed by law and will not constitute legal advice or advice regarding the investment or tax aspects of any transaction.All Other Employees Other employees are
not required to obtain pre-clearance of trades or transactions in our stock; however, if you have material nonpublic information, you may not conduct transactions in our stock. You should
contact the Chief Financial Officer or General Counsel if you are uncertain as to whether you are restricted from trading or engaging in other transactions at any time or if you would like to
discuss whether you are aware of material nonpublic information.No-Trade Window PeriodsAny director, officer or key employee (who is notified they are subject to no-trade window periods) is
prohibited from trading, or engaging in other transactions with respect to, any of our securities during designated no-trade window periods. The no-trade window periods begin on the 10th day
of the month prior to the month of the release of annual or quarterly financial results and continue through the 2nd business day after the release of the financial results, inclusive of the day of
the press release. A copy of the current no-trade window calendar may be found on AOSNet. We may also impose special no-trade windows or blackout periods, as determined and announced to
relevant persons by the General Counsel, during which the persons notified will be prohibited from purchasing, selling, gifting or otherwise transferring our securities. If you are so notified by
the General Counsel, you should not disclose to others the fact of such suspension of trading.Hedging, Pledging and Certain Trading ProhibitedYou must not enter into transactions that hedge
or pledge our securities. Without limitation, the prohibition on hedging includes the purchase of any financial instruments (including prepaid variable forward contracts, equity swaps, collars,
and exchange funds), or otherwise engaging in transactions, that hedge or offset, or are designed to hedge or offset, any decrease in the market value of our securities.Under this Policy, you
should not engage in any short-term or speculative transactions involving our securities, such as short sales, sales against the box, buying or selling puts or calls, trading in options, or trading in
securities on a short-term basis. Contact the General Counsel with any questions regarding these prohibitions.Policy and Insider Trading Prohibition Applicable to 401(k) and Dividend
Reinvestment PlansThis Policy also prohibits making changes to investment elections of our stock in an A.A O. Smith Profit Sharing Retirement Plan (401(k) Plan) or making changes to plan
participation decisions in A. O. Smitha€™s Dividend Reinvestment Plan (DRP) while you are aware of material nonpublic information.If you wish to change your investment election in our stock
in the 401(k) Plan or your participation and plan decisions in the DRP and you are subject to a preclearance requirement for transaction in our stock described above, you must make the



changes during an open trade window and you must be precleared by the General Counsel and Chief Financial Officer as described above.Prohibition on Gifts While Aware of Material
Nonpublic InformationThis Policy also prohibits you from making a gift of our stock while you are aware of material nonpublic information relating to us.Prohibition on Insider Trading of other
CompaniesThis Policy also applies to material nonpublic information about any other company (including our customers or our suppliers), which you may gain as an employee, and transactions
in the securities of such other companies. If, in the course of working for us, you become aware of material nonpublic information about a company with which we do business, such as our
customers and suppliers, or that is involved in a potential transaction or business relationship with us, you may not engage in transactions in that companya€™s securities until the information
becomes public or is no longer material.Board of Directors Approval and Insider Trading Compliance Policy Coordinator The Board of Directors has approved our Insider Trading Compliance
Program and directed that its provisions be implemented and maintained as part of our commitment to compliance with applicable federal and state insider trading laws and regulations. To
ensure compliance with this Policy, we have designated James F. Stern, Executive Vice President, General Counsel & Secretary, as the Program Coordinator. The Program Coordinator is
responsible for developing and implementing appropriate methods for monitoring compliance with this Policy. If you have any questions about your responsibilities and obligations under this
Policy or become aware of any violations, even accidental violations of this Policy, you should contact the Program Coordinator at (414) 359-4031. ViolationsViolation of this policy could result
in both civil and criminal penalties, including fines and jail sentences for you, for A. O. Smith and for the person who trades based upon a tip. You can incur penalties for such violations by
tipping information to others, even if you do not personally profit from the other persona€™s actions. Violators of this policy will be appropriately disciplined, up to and including termination of
employment. Policy Owner/ContactA. O. Smitha€™s General Counsel is responsible for implementation of this policy.Date of Next ReviewA. O. Smitha€™ s General Counsel will direct periodic
risk assessments and reviews of our operations and the effectiveness of this Policy. This Policy is subject to audit by the Legal Department, the Finance Department, and the Board of Directors.
This Policy is also subject to amendment, as determined by A. O. Smith&€™s General Counsel. Related PoliciesNOTE: THIS POLICY MAY ONLY BE REVISED IF APPROVED BY THE
CORPORATE GENERAL COUNSEL OF A. O. SMITH CORPORATION.DocumentExhibit 21SUBSIDIARIES: The following lists all subsidiaries and affiliates of A. O. Smith Corporation. A Name of
SubsidiaryA AJunsdlctlonA inA WhichIncorporatedA. O. Smith Water Treatment (North America), Inc.DelawareA. O. Smith Water Treatment (North America) Holdings, Inc. A A DelawareSICO
Acquisition, LLCAA DelawareTakagi - A. O. Smith Tankless Water Heater Company LLCA A DelawareMineral-Right, Inc.A A KansasAmerican Water Heater CompanyA A NevadaHague Europe,
LLCA A OhioLochinvar, LLCA A TennesseeState Industries, LLC.A A TennesseeA. O. Smith Holdings (Barbados) SRLA A BarbadosA. O. Smith Bangladesh Private LimitedBangladeshA. O. Smith
Enterprises Ltd. A A CanadaA. O. Smith (China) Environmental Products Co., Ltd.A A ChinaA. O. Smith (China) Investment Co., Ltd.A A ChinaA. O. Smith (China) Water Heater Co.,

Ltd.A A ChinaA. O. Smith (China) Water Products Co., Ltd.A A ChinaA. O. Smith (Shanghai) HVAC Co., Ltd.A A ChinaA. O. Smith (Wuhan) HVAC Co., Ltd.A A ChinaA. O. Smith L4€ ™ eau chaude
S.a.r.l.A A FranceWaterboss Europe, SARLA A FranceA. O. Smith (Hong Kong) LimitedA A Hong Kong SARA. O. Smith India Water Products Private LimitedA A IndiaProducts de Agua, S. de
R.L. de C.V.A A MexicoA.O. Smith Water Products SL (Private) LimitedSri LankaA.O. Smith Holdings I B.V.A A The NetherlandsA.O. Smith Holdings II B.V.A A The NetherlandsA.O. Smith
Holdings III B.V.A A The NetherlandsA.O. Smith International Holdings B.V.A A The NetherlandsA.O. Smith Products v.o.f.A A The NetherlandsA.O. Smith Water Products Company B.V.A A The
NetherlandsA. O. Smith Water FZEA A UnitedA ArabA EmiratesLochinvar LimitedA A United KingdomA. O. Smith Vietnam Company LimitedA A VietnamDocumentExhibit 23CONSENT OF
INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements (Form S-8 Nos. 333-144950 and 333-170436)
pertaining to the A. O. Smith Combined Incentive Compensation Plan of our reports dated FebruaryA 11, 2025, with respect to the consolidated financial statements and schedule of

A.A O.A SmithA Corporation, and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting of A. A 0.A SmithA Corporation, included in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) for the year ended
DecemberA 31, 2024. A /s/ ErnstA & Young LLPMilwaukee, WisconsinFebruary 11, 2025DocumentExhibit 31.1CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICERI, Kevin J. Wheeler, certify
that:1.I have reviewed this annual report on FormA 10-KA of A.A O.A SmithA Corporation;2.Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit
to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;3.Based on my knowledge, the financial statements and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of
operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;4.The registranta€™ s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act RulesA 13a-15(e)A andA 15d-15(e))A and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act RulesA 13a-
15(f)A andA 15d-15(f))A for the registrant and have:a)Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this report is being prepared;b)Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles;c)Evaluated the effectiveness of the registranta€™s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of
the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; andd)Disclosed in this report any changes in the registranta€™s internal
control over financial reporting that occurred during the registranta€™s most recent fiscal quarter (the registranta€™ s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrantd€™s internal control over financial reporting; and5.The registranta€™s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on
our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrantd€™s auditors and the audit committee of the registranta€™ s board of directors:a)All significant
deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registranta€™s ability to record,
process, summarize and report financial information; andb)Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registranta€™s
internal control over financial reporting.Date: February 11, 2025/s/ Kevin J. WheelerKevin J. WheelerChairman and Chief Executive OfficerDocumentExhibit 31.2CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF
FINANCIAL OFFICERI, Charles T. Lauber, certify that;1.I have reviewed this annual report on FormA 10-KA of A. O. Smith Corporation;2.Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain
any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;3.Based on my knowledge, the financial statements and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;4.The registranta€™s other certifying officer
and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act RulesA 13a-15(e)A andA 15d-15(e))A and internal control over financial
reporting (as defined in Exchange Act RulesA 13a-15(f)A andA 15d-15(f))A for the registrant and have:a)Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls
and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;b)Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial
reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;c)Evaluated the effectiveness of the registranta€™s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; andd)Disclosed in this report any changes in the
registranta€™ s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registranta€™ s most recent fiscal quarter (the registranta€™s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual
report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registranta€™s internal control over financial reporting; and5.The registranta€™s other certifying officer and
I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registranta€™s auditors and the audit committee of the registranta€™s board of
directors:a)All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the
registranta€™ s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; andb)Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the registranta€™s internal control over financial reporting.Date: February 11, 2025/s/ Charles T. LauberCharles T. LauberExecutive Vice President and Chief Financial
OfficerDocumentExhibit 32.1Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. SectionA 1350,As Adopted Pursuant to SectionA 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002In connection with the Annual Report of
A.A O.A SmithA Corporation (the &€ceCompanya€) on FormA 10-KA for the fiscal year ended DecemberA 31, 2024, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the
a€ceReporta€). I, Kevin J. Wheeler, Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. A§1350, as adopted pursuant to A§906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002, that to the best of my knowledge:(1)The Report fully complies with the requirements of SectionA 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and(2)The information
contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.Date: February 11, 2025/s/ Kevin J. WheelerKevin J.
WheelerChairman and Chief Executive OfficerThis certification accompanies this Report pursuant to SectionA 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and shall not be deemed filed by the
Company for purposes of SectionA 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.A signed original of this written statement required by SectionA 906 has been provided to the
Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.DocumentExhibit 32.2Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
SectionA 1350,As Adopted Pursuant to SectionA 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002In connection with the Annual Report of A.A O.A SmithA Corporation (the 4€ceCompanya€) on FormA 10-
KA for the fiscal year ended DecemberA 31, 2024, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the 4€ceReporta€). I, Charles T. Lauber, Executive Vice President
and Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. A§1350, as adopted pursuant to A§906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to the best of my knowledge:(1)The
Report fully complies with the requirements of SectionA 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and(2)The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material
respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.Date: February 11, 2025/s/ Charles T. LauberCharles T. LauberExecutive Vice President and Chief Financial
OfficerThis certification accompanies this Report pursuant to SectionA 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and shall not be deemed filed by the Company for purposes of SectionA 18 of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.A signed original of this written statement required by SectionA 906 has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and
furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.



